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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Sun Kong
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief,
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company,
| am pleased to present the annual report together with the annual
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

Due to the impact of trade protectionism policies, Hong Kong
has lost its transshipment hub function. To face relatively higher
prices and labor costs, some logistic service providers and shipping
companies select Shenzhen port as direct export port. As a result,
the demand in diesel oil from cross-boundary transportation sector
was significantly affected. Fortunately, the demand from the
construction sector remained stable during the year.

Crude oil prices maintained at high level throughout the year of
2023, largely driven by the stagflation expectation and geopolitical
tensions escalated. Despite the decreasing trend during the year,
our purchase cost of diesel oil remained at high level and directly
created pressure on the operating cash flow.

The Group has recorded a revenue of approximately HK$69.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing an increase of
approximately HK$1.3 million or 1.9% as compared to the Group's
revenue of approximately HK$67.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2023. Loss and total comprehensive loss was approximately
HK$10.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$1.4 million from a loss of
approximately HK$12.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBESE

Going forward, we strive to maintain a steady business scale, to
improve operational efficiency and to stay extra alert and flexible
in adapting to new challenges. We will implement the Group’s
business strategies step by step in order to strengthen the Group’s
position as an established diesel oil provider in Hong Kong and
create long-term shareholder’s value.

I, on behalf of the Board, would like to offer my appreciation and
gratitude to our shareholders, business partners and customers for
their utmost support to the Group. We would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their
hard work and dedication throughout the year.

Law Ming Yik
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the sale of diesel oil and related
products in Hong Kong. The services of the Group include sourcing
and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong
Kong. Most of the Group’s customers are logistic companies and
construction companies which require diesel oil to operate their
logistic fleets. The Group had seven diesel tank wagons of various
capacity as at 31 March 2024.

In 2023, the economy in the Hong Kong and People’s Republic
of China ("Mainland China"”) continues to deteriorate due to
the impact of trade protectionism policies. Hong Kong has lost its
transshipment hub function. To face relatively higher prices and
labor costs, some logistic service providers and shipping companies
select Shenzhen port as direct export port. The demand in diesel
oil from cross-boundary transportation sector was significantly
affected. Fortunately, the demand from the construction sector
remained stable during the year.

Crude oil prices maintained at high level throughout the year of
2023, largely driven by the stagflation expectation and geopolitical
tensions escalated. Despite the deceasing trend during the year,
our purchase cost of diesel oil remained at high level and directly
created pressure on the operating cash flow.

The Group has recorded a revenue of approximately HK$69.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing an increase
of approximately HK$1.3 million or 1.9%, as compared to the
Group'’s revenue of approximately HK$67.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023. The increase was mainly due to increase
in the sale of diesel oil as a result of the recovery after COVID-19
outbreak.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

The Group recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$10.7 million for the year ended
31 March 2024 representing a decrease of approximately HK$1.4
million from a loss of approximately HK$12.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Hong Kong and People’s Republic of China economy development
are critical to the Group’s business and operating environment. The
Group will continue to closely monitor the diesel market demand,
pay close attention to its cash flow management, integrate existing
resources and actively adjust business plans to ensure stability of its
operations amid such difficult times while being fully prepared for
business recovery.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately HK$1.3 million or
approximately 1.9% from approximately HK$67.7 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$69.0 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

Revenue from the sale of diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid
accounted for approximately HK$67.6 million and HK$1.1
million respectively, representing approximately 98.0% and 1.6%
respectively, of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31
March 2024. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the revenue
from the sale of diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid accounted for
approximately HK$66.0 million and HK$1.6 million respectively,
representing approximately 97.5% and 2.4% respectively, of
the Group's total revenue. Sale of diesel oil remained the largest
contributor to the Group’s revenue.

The Group recorded an ancillary transportation service income of
approximately HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2024.
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the ancillary transportation
service income accounted for approximately HK$ 0.1 million. The
service was to help the Oil Major transport the diesel oil to its
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

Sales quantity

The sales quantity of diesel oil increased by approximately 30.0%
from 9.0 million litres for the year ended 31 March 2023 to 11.7
million litres for the year ended 31 March 2024, which showed
more diesel oil was required from the Group’s logistics customers
during the year ended 31 March 2024. The sales quantity of
diesel exhaust fluid decreased by approximately 28.1% from
502.1 thousand litres for the year ended 31 March 2023 to 360.8
thousand litres for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Selling price

The average selling price of the Group’s diesel oil decreased by
approximately 21.0% from HK$7.33 per litre for the year ended 31
March 2023 to HK$5.79 per litre for the year ended 31 March 2024
whereas the average selling price of the Group’s diesel exhaust
fluid decreased by approximately 4.0% from HK$3.26 per litre for
the year ended 31 March 2023 to HK$3.13 per litre for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The decrease of the average selling price of
the Group’s diesel oil was in line with the decreasing trend in the
prevailing market prices.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales primarily consists of costs of diesel oil, diesel exhaust
fluid, direct labour costs and depreciation. The purchase cost for
diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid depends on the domestic purchase
price offered by the Group’s oil suppliers, with reference to the price
indices such as Europe Brent spot crude price.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s cost of sales was
approximately HK$63.6 million, representing a decrease of 1.2%
from HK$64.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

The largest component of the cost of sales was diesel oil cost, which
amounted to approximately HK$58.3 million and HK$58.5 million,
representing approximately 90.5% and 92.0% of the cost of sales
for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, respectively. The
average unit purchase cost of diesel oil decreased by 22.6% from
approximately HK$6.47 per litre for the year ended 31 March 2023
to approximately HK$5.01 per litre for the year ended 31 March
2024. The decrease in average unit purchase cost of diesel oil was
in line with the market trend for the year ended 31 March 2024.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, the diesel exhaust
fluid costs were approximately HK$1.4 million and HK$1.0 million
respectively, representing approximately 2.2% and 1.6% of the
cost of sales, respectively.

The direct labour costs comprise wages and benefits, including
wages, bonuses, retirement benefit costs and other allowances
and benefits payable to the diesel tank wagons drivers and logistics
assistants involved in the transportation of the products from the
oil depot to the customers. The direct labour costs amounted to
approximately HK$1.3 million and HK$0.8 million for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, respectively. The Group had three
full-time drivers responsible for the logistics support for the Group’s
diesel tank wagons as at 31 March 2024.

Depreciation represented depreciation charges for the Group’s
equipment which consist mainly of diesel tank wagons. The
depreciation amounted to approximately HK$2.5 million for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represented the Group's revenue less cost of sales.
The Group recorded an increase in gross profit by approximately
HK$2.2 million or approximately 66.7% from approximately
HK$3.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately
HK$5.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The Group's
gross profit margin increased from 4.8% for the year ended 31
March 2023 to 7.9% for the year ended 31 March 2024 due
to (i) more diesel oil were sold to higher margin customers of
construction; and (i) reduction in wages for the diesel tank wagons
drivers.

Administrative and other operating expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses mainly include
administrative staff costs, professional service fees, rent and
rate and others. The Group’s administrative and other operating
expenses were approximately HK$9.0 million and HK$7.6
million for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024
respectively.

Income tax expense

The group did not incur income tax for the year ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s net loss decreased by
approximately HK$1.4 million from approximately HK$12.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$10.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Group finances its operations through cash generated from
operating activities and banking facilities. The Group recorded net
current assets of approximately HK$20.0 million as at 31 March
2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s current assets amounted to
approximately HK$40.9 million and the Group’s current liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$20.9 million. Current ratio was
approximately 2.0 as at 31 March 2024. Current ratio is calculated
by current assets over current liabilities at the end of the year.

As at 31 March 2024, bank and cash balances were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollar. The Group considers that any
reasonable changes in foreign exchange rates of currencies against
major functional currencies would not result in a significant change
in the Group’s results, as the net carrying amounts of financial
assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
respective subsidiaries’ functional currencies are considered to be
not significant.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s total debts comprised bank
overdrafts and bank loan. Particular of the Group’s bank overdrafts
and bank loan are set out in Note 18 and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

The Group’s bank borrowings carry variable interest rates of
2.5% per annum below Hong Kong dollar prime rate (2023:
2.5%). Details are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2024, The banking facilities available to the Group

was approximately HK$14.0 million and approximately HK$13.6
million of the banking facilities was utilised.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

GOING CONCERN AND MITIGATION MEASURES

In order to meet the Group’s financial obligations as and when

they fall due within the next twelve months, the directors of the

Company have been undertaking a number of measures to improve

the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which included:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the Group has implemented measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding trade receivables;

the Group has successfully applied the extension for the
repayment of loan principal from September 2023 to August
2024 and the Group has been continuously negotiating with
creditors for renewal and extension of borrowings which are
repayable during the year ending 31 March 2025;

the Group will actively negotiate with various financial
institutions and potential lenders to secure new financing
arrangement to meet the Group’s working capital and financial
requirements in the near future; and

Mr. Law Ming Yik, the director and shareholder of the
Company has confirmed that he will provide continuous
financial support to the Group to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due for a period of twelve months from
the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Law has
provided a loan of HK$3,000,000 to the Company and he has
obtained a stand-by facility amount of HK$8,000,000 to the
Company, under Mr. Law'’s personal guarantee.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, being the ratio of bank loan to total equity, of the
Group as at 31 March 2024 was 41.4% (2023: 30.5%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed in
note 3 of the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that our risk management practices are
important and uses its best effort to ensure it is sufficient to
mitigate the risks present in our operations and financial position as
efficiently and effectively as possible. The followings are the major
risks and uncertainties of the Group’s business:

e The Group’s earnings, cash flows and financial condition may
be adversely affected if the Group uses an incorrect oil and
gas price assumptions to evaluate projects and commercial
opportunities;

e Transportation service of diesel oil can be disrupted if there is
reliance on one single oil supplier in Hong Kong;

e Loss of customers due to price competitions and global
economic slowdown; and

e Disruptions to operation due to difficulty in retaining
employees.

For other risks and uncertainties that the Group is facing, please
refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the the prospectus of
the Company dated 21 December 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

An analysis of the Group’s financial risk management (including

market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk) objectives and policies are
provided in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

14 SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

DEPE R

AEEDE B BN S M B IRRI L3

EREARRAEE

FEERERAREEERERNESZ THEEK
SHRMREENE R KRB BE#MB L HZFIB
BERVBRARTEFENRR - UTBEEER
MEFPHERER R TRENS

s WAEEERHESNAHRRARER
BERUFLEEEREERS  AEENE
M RERERY BN AR B AHE
&,

o MEBBKBEE - RHERD KOEEH
AR5 3 & A P

s HERBIFIREMEEBEERERR
xRk

o HEUBEETEHEET HEH-

ERAEEEEMNEMER R AEEM 5
Z2ERATIHARA2018F12H21B 2 BB =E12
(HERER) WTRREZE —&-

e BRERWE28HIERAERMBR
REE (AETHEEAR - GERRERBES
kR BRKMBERBI DT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISK

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is not exposed to any
foreign exchange risks throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

None of the Group's assets were charged as at 31 March 2024
(2023: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2024, the capital structure of the Group consisted of
equity attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$29.3 million. The share capital of the Group only comprises
ordinary shares. The shares of the Company were listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange on 8 January 2019 (the “Listing Date"”).
Pursuant to the resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company on 15 February 2024, every ten issued ordinary shares of
par value of HK$0.01 each had been consolidated into one ordinary
share of HK$0.1 each. The share consolidation became effective on
19 February 2024. All the shares issued by the Company ranked pari
passu in all respects.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and for the purpose to maintain a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year ended 31 March
2024. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the
financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR
JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have
any significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any capital
commitments in respect of the acquisition of intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment that have not been provided in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Reporting Period, the payment for capital expenditure
of the Group decreased by approximately HK$2.7 million or 77.1%
as compared with last year to approximately HK$0.8 million (2023:
approximately HK$3.5 million), which was related to the deposit
payment for upgrading information technology systems.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 21
December 2018 (the “Prospectus”) and in the paragraph headed
"Comparison of implementation plans for business strategies with
actual implementation progress” below in this report, the Group
does not have any future plans for material investments or capital
assets as at the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend a payment of any dividend for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events have taken place after the end of the financial
year (i.e. 31 March 2024) to the date of this report.

SHARE CONSOLIDATION

On 19 February 2024, a share consolidation (the “Share
Consolidation”) on the basis that every ten issued and unissued
existing shares were consolidated into one consolidated share of
HK$0.1 (the “Consolidated Shares"”) each became effective.

TERMINATION OF A PROPOSED RIGHTS ISSUE

On 28 December 2023, it was announced that the Company
proposed to raise gross proceeds of up to approximately HK$24.0
million before expenses (assuming full subscription) by issuing up
to 80,000,000 new Consolidated Shares by way of rights issue at
the Subscription Price of HK$0.30 per Rights Share, on the basis of
two Rights Shares for every one Consolidated Share. The right issue
was terminated on 27 March 2024. For more details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 28 December 2023, 15
February 2024, 19 February 2024, 13 March 2024 and 27 March
2024 and the circular of the Company dated 24 January 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS IR RIRITEI I BB R ITEER LR

FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL
IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group’s implementation U TABRER KK E RAERIERR —
plans for its business strategies up to 31 March 2024 as set out EIfTEIANEBEF2024F3831 HWERKKE
in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the #E1T5t8|EAREBSEHEITEEMLLER @

Prospectus with the Group’s actual implementation progress:

Implementation plan up to

Business strategy 31 March 2024

1 EZE2024F3831H8# 17518

Expansion and enhancement of — Replace two existing diesel tank
the Group’s fleet of wagons

diesel tank wagons

BERMMEAEBRFHITEEERER - BRAMWRANSRITEE

— Order two new diesel tank

wagons

— 5] R M AT SR AT A B

— Order one new diesel tank
wagon

— BB WA m AT B

Upgrading the Group's information — Purchase an Enterprise Resource
technology and systems Planning System
FHRAERBBE AR R R —BEEXBERERM
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Actual implementation

progress up to

31 March 2024
EE2024F3A31HNERIEITEE

— Two new diesel tank wagons have
been ordered to replace existing
diesel tank wagons and were
available for use in October 2019

— BT EmEAT A mET B EBEIRAIRE
BISmETIBE > W E 2019108
BAER

— Two new diesel tank wagons have
been ordered and were available for
use in April 2020

—EiIEmm SRR EE, W
2020FF4R A B

— One new diesel tank wagon has
been ordered in May 2020 and was
available for use in June 2021

— 12202058 E 5T B — w2 mET
FEE > W HL202146 8 A A

The development of Enterprise Resource

Planning System (ERP), including the

Advanced Driver Assistance System has

been successfully completed and fully

operational for use in March 2024

BRETEERBENRAFEANTEE

RETEI R H(ERP)RIRI 2 B 70202443

B B Ih5ER L 2 i A A



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERBEARKID A

Business strategy

ES P

Strengthening the Group’s manpower

s AEEAS

Working Capital

Implementation plan up to
31 March 2024
BEXE20245F38318 #1712

— Recruit four drivers and two

logistics assistants to strengthen
the Group's workforce required
for the Group’s fleet of diesel
tank wagons

1R BE 70 44 B) 1% K2 i % ¥ O B
ENETAEENRANE
BEBMEIAL

Recruit two accounting staff to
support the Group on a wide
spectrum of accounting and
company secretarial matters
BEmMEZEst A HAEHE
BZHNEst R ABDWENS
BIR S 45

Recruit one administrative staff
to support the expansion of the
Group

BE—R21THRAE HEAEH
NiERIR M HF

To be used as working capital
and funding for other general
corporate purposes according
to the Group’s current business
plans

BESEEERBERTE
RFEaEEEkasHM—KR
NERBRREHRES

Actual implementation

progress up to

31 March 2024
EE202453H31BMBREITEE

— Four drivers and two logistics
assistants were hired as at 31 March
2020

—1%202053831H ' B A4
W m YR B

— One senior accountant has been hired
to provide financial and secretarial
support to our Group

—BEA—%eREs AEAEEN
MHERMESHRMZS

— One administrative staff was hired in
May 2019

— BR2019F5 8 EEA—%1THRAE

— The Group remain focused on
maintaining and investing in the
Group's working capital in order to
fund the Group's expanding business
and enhance the Group’s operating
liquidity as well as to pursuit business
and revenue growth

— AERESRNIEFTREENREAE
ERNEEES MEERERBEXK
EHRNAIERENERARERT
fiERNEHRHEESTRSAE
ErEERet
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

USE OF PROCEEDS

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 8 January 2019 by way of share offer. The Directors
intend to apply the net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) from the
share offer in accordance with the proposed implementation plan
as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
in the Prospectus. The Net Proceeds, after deducting underwriting
commission and other listing expenses, amounted to approximately
HK$34.8 million. Details of the change in use of Net Proceeds are
set out in the Company’s announcements dated 3 July 2020, 18
August 2020 (the “UOP Announcements”) and 23 March 2023
(the “UOP Announcement 2023"). Set out below is the actual use
of the Net Proceeds up to 31 March 2024:

FRISRIERR

AN B HIRRD AR D B E M A R R2019F18
SHEMRZFIGEMEM - EFRIZRIBRERE
TR ERFIEMBERR BIMENERE
Mt EIFE AR (7 B E S REF %8 ((FRgmIE
B o RMBEHEASREMETREE%
FRSR BB AK3B48E B BT BFFAEM
HFEAREBHNAAT HEA20205F75
SHZAM 20208818 2 A (IZE &
ERERERRAM) X2023F3823HZA
% (T2023FE B EFRBMIBRARAMI) - BEE
2024F383 1 HF S F BN ERAREN
X

Intended The change Further
allocation of in use of change in use of
Net Proceeds as Net Proceeds as Net Proceeds as Actual use of Unused total
set forth in the set forth in the UOP set forth in the UOP Net Proceeds up Net Proceeds
Prospectus Announcements announcement 2023 to 31 March 2024 up to 31 March 2024
FELEMBIE WBEEEFERE
BRERME BRAHE BRAHREE—S EE2024536310 EE2004%38310
FMERETEREAR FENETHERREE AORETERREE FRUETENERRE  AERLRGRETE
HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million
BEET EEET BEET EEET BEET
Purchase of diesel tank wagons ~ EEEhEEE 150 - (26) (124) .
Expand manpower BREAN 125 (108 - (17) -
Upgrade information technology ~ FHAERREZS
systems 5.0 - - (5.0) -
Working capital EEEE 23 108 26 (15.7) -
Total 5t 348 (34.8) -
Note: Bz -

The Group has utilized approximately HK$5.0 million of the Net Proceeds for
upgrading the information technology systems of the Group. Up to the date of
this report, the Group has engaged vendor in upgrading the Group'’s information
technology systems and the upgrade is fully operational in March 2024. Save
as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any material change to the
implementation plans in relation to the Net Proceeds as stated in the Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

Save as discussed, the Group has applied the Net Proceeds in
the manners consistent with the proposed applications set out
in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
Prospectus. The implementation plans for business strategies and
use of Net Proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the
best estimation and assumption of future market conditions made
by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus. The Group
implemented its business strategies and applied the Net Proceeds
based on the actual development of the Group’s business and
industry, as well as market conditions.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group engaged a total of 15 employees
(31 March 2023: 18 employees) including the Directors. For
the year ended 31 March 2024, total staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$4.5 million (year ended 31 March 2023:
approximately HK$6.8 million). Remuneration (including
employees’ benefits) is maintained within the market level and
reviewed on a periodic basis. Employees’ salary and relevant
benefits are determined on the basis of performance, qualification,
experience, positions and the Group’s business performance.

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The principal activity of the Group is governed by Hong Kong
environmental laws and regulations including the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. These laws and regulations cover
a broad range of environmental matters, including air pollution,
noise and gas emissions, leakage of oil products or other hazardous
substances. The Group recognises the importance of environmental
protection and has implemented various environmental protection
measures in order to minimise the operation impact on the
environment and natural resources. Details of environment policies
and performance are set out in the section headed “Environment,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 45 to 101 of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXELGRS

The Board is committed to establish and ensure high standards of
corporate governance within the Group and therefore has adopted
sound corporate governance practices. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing
Rules. The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and sound
corporate governance practices are essential for the growth of the
Group and for safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that throughout the year ended 31 March
2024, the Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group'’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the management and administration of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the
board committees of the Company. Further details of the board
committees of the Company are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Group by the direction and supervision of
the Group’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility
for day to day management of the Group which is delegated
to the management. To this end, monthly financial and
operational information are provided to the Board for assessing
the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries. For
significant matters that are specifically delegated by the Board,
the management must report back to and obtain prior approval
from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXELRHRS

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the

corporate governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1
of the CG Code, which include:

(a)

to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Board Composition

Up to the date of this report, the Board comprised five Directors, of

whom two are executive Directors and three are independent non-

executive Directors. Details of their composition by category are as

follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman)
Mr. Li Isaiah (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fenn David
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew
Mr. Chan Ting Fung
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXELGRS

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or
substantive experience and industry knowledge. The Board
as a whole has achieved an appropriate balance of skills and
experience. The composition of the Board is in accordance with
the requirement of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.
There are three independent non-executive Directors and one of
them has accounting professional qualification. More than one-
third of the members of the Board are independent non-executive
Directors, which brings a fairly strong independence element in its
composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors
in the Board brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and
independent judgment on issues relating to the Group’s strategies,
performance, conflicts of interests and management process to
ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)"”) have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed
"“Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 126 to 132 of this report. Other than that Mr. Law Ming Yik
is the cousin of Mr. Li Isaiah, there are no family or other material
relationships among members of the Board.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs.

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group's activities
with a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’
value. The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-
day management of the Group as well as the implementation of
the Board’s policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXELRRS

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), on 11 December 2018 and
delegated them with powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affair. Each of the committees of the Board has been
established with written terms of reference.

The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means
of electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles”). The chairman also meets
with the independent non-executive Directors at least once a year
without the presence of the other executive Director. Notices and
agendas of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at
least 14 days before convening the Board meeting. For all other
Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. All other schedules and the relevant information of each
Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access
to the management whenever necessary.
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The attendance of each of the Directors at the Board meetings, REZFRNRESHBBT2EETTEHE BLS
meetings of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and E & ZZH FHINEZETTEZURIRLEET S
Nomination Committee held during the Reporting Period is set out %~ HE R EH W T :
below:
Attendance/Number of meetings
HERY BRBTRY
Annual Extra

Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination General General
Name of Director Board Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
EEHL EE EZXgEE EBREEY HFHZET REZEE RREFAY BREEAS
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman) RLERYE (ZE) 4/4 - 1n 17 17 7
Mr. LiIsaiah FRELE 4/4 - - - 17 11
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIJEHITES
Mr. Fenn David BERRE 414 4/4 17 17 17 171
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew BRETE 4/4 4/4 - 17 - 11
Mr. Chan Ting Fung BERLE 414 4/4 11 - 17 1N

The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters
arising from corporate governance, risk management, statutory
compliance, accounting and finance.

Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’
notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company
Secretary at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.
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Appointment and Re-election and Rotation of Directors

In compliance with the code provision in B.2.2 of the CG Code, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Furthermore, pursuant to the Articles provide that
at each annual general meeting (the “AGM"), one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at the AGM at least once every three years.

The Directors were appointed for a specific term and are subject
to re-election. Each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company. The service contract of each
of the executive Directors is for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which will continue thereafter
until terminated in accordance with the terms of the agreement.
The appointment letter of each of the independent non-executive
Directors is for a term of one year commencing from the Listing
Date, which shall be automatically renewed unless terminated
by either party giving at least one month’s notice in writing. The
aforesaid appointment letters are subject to termination provisions
therein and the retirement and re-election provisions in the Articles.
Details of the appointment letters are summarised in the Report of
the Board of Directors on page 102 of this report.

The AGM for the year 2023 was convened on 23 August 2023,
pursuant to which some of the Directors were re-elected in the
meeting. The re-election of Directors for the year 2024 will be
proceeded in the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends each of the Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this
report, all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending training course or reading relevant
materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations. Records of the training received by the respective
Directors are kept and updated by the Company Secretary of
the Company. The Company is of the view that all Directors had
complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fenn David and Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew were appointed
as the independent non-executive Directors with effect from 11
December 2018.

Mr. Chan Ting Fung was appointed as the independent non-
executive Directors with effect from 1 September 2022.

The independent non-executive Directors are experienced
professionals with expertise in respective areas of accounting,
legal, finance, industry knowledge and expertise. With their
professional knowledge and experience, the independent non-
executive Directors serve an important function of advising the
senior management on strategy development and ensure that the
Board maintains high standards in financial and other mandatory
reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances for
safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders and the Company
as a whole; and participate in the Company’s various committees
including Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.
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The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence.
The Company considers the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Law Ming Yik was appointed as the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”) and was re-designated as an executive Director of the
Company on 24 November 2017. Mr. Li Isaiah was appointed as
the chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive
Officer”) and was re-designated as an executive Director of the
Company on 24 November 2017.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Law Ming
Yik is the Chairman who provides leadership to the Board and
is also responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice and is
responsible for the overall corporate management of the business
development strategies of the Group. Mr. Li Isaiah is the Chief
Executive Officer who is responsible for the implementation of the
business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board and
is accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the Group.
These functions and responsibilities are current being shared by
the management team. The Board believes that this arrangement
enables the Company to make and implement decisions promptly,
and thus achieve the Company’s objectives efficiently and
effectively. The Board also believes that the Company already has a
strong corporate governance structure in place to ensure effective
oversight of management.
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BOARD COMMITTEE
Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 11 December
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
C.3.3 (currently referred as D.3.3) of the CG Code. The full
terms of reference setting out details of the authority, duties and
responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available on both the
GEM's website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Ting Fung, Mr. Wong Ka Chun
Matthew and Mr. Fenn David. Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board by providing an independent view on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control and risk management system,
overseeing the balance, transparency and integrity of the
Company’s financial statements and the application of financial
reporting principles, reviewing the relationship with the external
auditor and its independence assessment and the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the Company’s
accounting staff, their training programs and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditors, Mazars CPA
Limited, and recommended the Board to re-appoint Mazars CPA
Limited as the Company’s auditors in the year ending 31 March
2024, which is subject to the approval of Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024.
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According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the
Audit Committee shall be held not less than twice a year and the
external auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is
necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’” Attendance” on page 25 in this report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 11
December 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision B.1.2
(currently referred as E.1.2) of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors
(namely Mr. Fenn David and Mr. Chan Ting Fung) and one executive
Director namely Mr. Law Ming Yik. Mr. Fenn David is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group, review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals, and ensure none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration. The full terms of reference setting out details of
duties of the Remuneration Committee is available on both the
GEM'’s website and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee adopted the approach under code
provision B.1.2(c)(i) (currently referred as E.1.2(c)(i)) of the CG
Code to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
of the Company. It is also responsible for approving the terms of
the services contracts of the executive Directors. The Company also
looks into individual Director's competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact
level of remuneration for each Director.
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Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, meeting shall be held at least once a year and
additional meetings should be held if the committee shall so
request.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting
held and Directors attendance are set out in the section headed
“Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on page 25 in
this report.

Senior Management'’s remuneration

Senior Management's remuneration payment of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024 falls within the following bands:

HK$
BT

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management members was based on their experience, level of
responsibility and general market conditions. Any discretionary
bonus and other merit payments are linked to the performance
of the Group and the individual performance of the Directors and

senior management members.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 11
December 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with
code provision A.5.2 (currently referred as B.3.1) of the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors (namely Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew and Mr.
Fenn David) and one executive Director (namely Mr. Law Ming Yik).
Mr. Law Ming Yik is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
policy concerning diversity of board members and the structure, size
and composition of the Board on regular basis and disclose such
policy, including any measurable objectives that the committee has
set for implementing the policy and progress on achieving those
objectives, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules (including disclosure
in the Company’s corporate governance report as appropriate);
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full
terms of reference setting out details of the authority, duties and
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee is available on both
the GEM'’s website and the Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
the Nomination Committee should meet at least once a year
and additional meetings should be held if the committee shall so
request.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and other factors listed in the policy for
the nomination of Directors, including (i) reputation for integrity;
(i) experience; (iii) availability; (iv) professional qualifications; and
(v) Board diversity as well as discussing matters regarding the
retirement and re-election of Directors. The Nomination Committee
would consider the need for nomination of new directors and
would make recommendations to the Shareholders for election as
directors at general meetings or to the Directors for appointment to
fill casual vacancies.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’” Attendance” on page 25 in this report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements for
each financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance”). In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board
has adopted appropriate and consistent accounting policies and
made prudent, fair and reasonable judgments and estimates.
The Directors are responsible for maintaining proper accounting
records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the state of affairs,
operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the Group
at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 133 to 140 of this
report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration for the
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group was as follows:
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Annual non audit service for the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3831HEEENEE

JEE AR 385,000
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EEERME

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG code such
as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of the directors and senior
management, reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in accordance with the requirement as set out in
the CG Code, which is summarised as below:

The Board Diversity Policy of the Company specifies that in
designing the composition the Board, Board diversity shall be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. All Board members’ appointment
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates for the Board will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational background,
professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The Nomination Committee was also satisfied with the Board
diversity in terms of independence, skills, industry and professional
experiences, cultural and educational background as well as
length of services of the Board members. As for the gender and
age composition, the Nomination Committee considered that
enhancement in gender and age diversities should be beneficial to
the Group’s sustainable development. It agreed to take initiatives to
identify suitable candidate with priority on enhancing the gender
diversity by 31 December 2024.

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the
Board in Corporate Governance Report every year and supervise
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having made specific
enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have complied with
the code of conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2024
and up to the date of this report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through the annual general meeting
or other general meetings to communicate with the Shareholders
and encourage their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for
separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions
put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective
investor communication policy and to update investors on relevant
information on the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to
relevant regulatory requirements.

Significant Changes in the Constitutional Documents

From the Listing Date to the date of this report, there has been
no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company. The Articles are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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Annual General Meeting

The Company’s AGM will be held on Wednesday, 21 August 2024.
The notice of the AGM will be sent to the Shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the AGM.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Principles and Guidelines

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash
reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and future
business growth.

The Board has discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
Shareholders, subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and

regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

a. financial results;

b. cash flow situation;

c.  business conditions and strategies;

d. future operations and earnings;

e. capital requirements and expenditure plans;
f.  interests of Shareholders;

g. any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

h. any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the
conditions and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period as:

1. interim dividend,

2. final dividend;

3. special dividend; and

4. any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
Shareholders’ approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

REVIEW OF THE DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board shall review the dividend policy as appropriate from time
to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a)

(b)

40

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting (the
“EGM") on requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require the EGM to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating
to the operations and management of the Group to be
discussed at Shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall
be sent to the Company Secretary by a written requisition.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene the EGM by following the procedures set out in
“Convening of the EGM on requisition by Shareholders”
above.
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() Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the
extent such information is publicly available to the Company
Secretary who is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board and communication
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions,
inquiries and consumer complaints, to the Chief Executive
Officer, in writing to the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the enquiries.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhancing investor relations. The Company is committed
to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate information
to its Shareholders and investment public. The Company updates
its Shareholders on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports.
The corporate website of the Company (www.skhl.com.hk) has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company has established an inside information disclosure
policy. The Board is responsible for timely, accurate and
complete dissemination of inside information about the Group
to the market by making proper and timely disclosure of inside
information announcements. Our policy strictly requires our
Directors, management and employees to keep unpublished inside
information confidential and refrain from dealing in the Company’s
securities if they are in possession of such inside information.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Cheuk Wai, our Company Secretary, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board
procedures and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating communications
among Directors as well as with management. The Company
Secretary’s primary contact at the Company is Mr. Leung Cheuk
Wai.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The Group's systems of risk
management and internal control include a defined management
structure with limits in authority, is designed to (i) help achieve
business objectives; (i) safeguard assets against unauthorised use
or disposition; (iii) ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication; and (iv) ensure compliance with
relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks
of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.
The division/department head of each core business segment is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such segment
within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and the
Board together, and reports directly to the Board.
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In the course of conducting the business of the Group, it is exposed
to various types of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified
into strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance

risks.
Risk Areas Principal Risks
2 Bz E IR FERRE

Strategic Risks
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Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new development and customers’

expectation; market competition risk; reputation risk

BRBS LR

Operational Risks

HEFBRIVSRME  RENERRTREFHE  mERF AR

; BERR

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system
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Financial Risks
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Compliance Risks

Liquidity risk; credit risk; interest rate risk; foreign exchange risk; inflation risk

s MR ELER

s SNEEELER 5 AR B

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances

related to employment; change of listing rules and relevant company regulations and

ordinances
R AR
NEVFR B B A& BB & 2

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the
Group and it has delegated the executive management with the
responsibility to carry out the risk identification and monitoring
procedures. The objectives of the risk management are to enhance
the governance and corporate management processes as well as to
safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among
others, (i) an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which
involves assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and
the development of risk management plans for mitigating such
risks; and (i) an annual review of the implementation of the risk
management plans and fine tuning of the implementation plan
when necessary.
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During the Reporting Period to the date of this report, the Board,
through the Audit Committee, has conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
with a view to ensure that resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
effective and adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee will
identify and inform the Board of any material issues.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s internal control and risk
management system annually and further enhance the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The
Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and
are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs. Nevertheless,
the Directors have the overall responsibility for risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing its effectiveness and will
continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
function.

GOING FORWARD

The Group will continue to review its corporate governance
standards on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take the
necessary actions to ensure compliance with the required practices
and standards including the provisions of the CG Code.
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APPROACH

Sun Kong Holdings Limited (“Sun Kong” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the business of the sales of diesel oil and related products in Hong
Kong. While integrating sustainability into its business strategy, the
Group has taken into account various factors, including business-
related challenges, work ethics, global trends, applicable laws and
regulations, in order to constantly promote business growth and
achieve long-term sustainability. The Group is constantly seeking
opportunities to grow its business that will be beneficial not only
to its shareholders, but also to its suppliers, customers and the
environment in which it operates.

The Group recognizes its responsibilities and accountability to
all its stakeholders, including customers, existing shareholders
and potential investors, employees, suppliers, non-governmental
organizations (NGOs) and local community. Understanding the
needs and expectations of the stakeholders is the key to the Group's
success. The Group is keen to ensure its stakeholders’ interests are
of the utmost importance.

Within the Group, it often keeps a close eye on monitoring the risks
and exploring potential opportunities. For the sake of striking a
balance among business needs, social demands and environmental
impacts, it is committed to continuously monitoring the risks and
opportunities which exist in its daily operations, and at the same
time, embracing transparent corporate culture to ensure that
sustainability strategies of the Group are well communicated to its
employees, customers, the communities and other stakeholders.

To implement sustainability strategies which apply to all levels of
the Group, the top-down approach is adopted for the following
sustainability strategies:

To achieve environmental sustainability

To respect human rights and social culture
To engage with stakeholders

To support our employees

vk W =

To sustain local communities
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Sun Kong Holdings Limited (“Sun Kong” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present
its Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report. The
content contained herein focuses on providing an overview of the
environmental, social and governance performance of its major
operations in Hong Kong from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024
(the "Reporting Year"). It helps the Group to keep a close eye on
its current performance as well as the opportunities to improve its
performance. The Reporting Year coincides with its financial year.

Scope of the Report

The ESG report has been prepared in accordance with
"Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the
“ESG Reporting Guide"”) set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG report
summarizes the Group's ESG performance from the Reporting Year,
and covers its management policies, mechanisms, and measures
in place during the Reporting Year with respect to environmental
protection, emission reduction, safe workplace, personnel
training and drills, supply chain management and community
investment and engagement. Focuses are placed on certain aspects
closely relevant to its shareholders and stakeholders, and its full
commitment to sustainable development of the Group as a whole.

The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of
the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide and the Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating
and determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place.
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Reporting Principles
Materiality

The materiality and relevance of the ESG related issues are carefully
evaluated by the Group and the opinions of its stakeholders, such
that the identified material ESG issues are validated and reported
according to the stakeholder’s concern.

Quantification

The KPIs disclosed in this report are supported by quantitative data
and measurable standards. All applicable statistics, calculation
tools, methodologies, reference materials and sources of conversion
factor used are disclosed when presenting the emission data.

Consistency

To facilitate the comparison of ESG performance between years,
consistent reporting and calculation methods are adopted as far
as reasonable, any significant changes in methodologies are also
detailed in relevant sections.

Feedback

For details of the ESG performance of the Group, corporate
governance as well as financial performance, please visit the
Group's website at http://www.skhl.com.hk and its annual reports.
The Group is open to and values all advice and suggestions
received, in order to uphold the common interests of the Group and
all stakeholders. Stakeholders are welcome to send such advice and
suggestions to the Group’s email: info@skhl.com.hk.
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Reporting Boundary

The Group is principally engaged in the business of the sales
of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong. Considering
the nature of the Group’s business, this ESG report covers the
performance and management policies of major operations of the
Group under an operational control approach which includes the
Group’s office in Hong Kong.

The ESG report’s social aspects covered the whole Group while the
environmental aspects are mainly focused on the sales of diesel
oil and related products in Hong Kong, which is the area that
represents the majority of the Group’s revenue generated, and thus
the major business that made social, environmental and economic
impacts.

ABOUT THE COMPANY
The Business of the Group

The Group was listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange in 2019 (stock
code 8631). Its sales services include sourcing diesel oil through oil
trading companies, dispatching the fleet of diesel tank wagons to
collect diesel oil from oil depots designated by the suppliers, and
eventually delivering diesel oil to destinations designated by the
customers. In addition, the Group also engaged in sale of diesel
exhaust fluid. With the delivery capacity and flexibility to devise
delivery schedule for the customers, the Group enjoys a competitive
edge in the industry.

Goal

To become the leading diesel oil provider focusing on the logistics
sector in Hong Kong.
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Board of Directors (the “Board”)

As at the date of the ESG report, the Board of the Company consists
of:

Executive Directors

Exg (259

RERB - HERELABREE ARTESR
TEE

Independent Non-executive Directors

WITES
Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman)
ERESLE (ZE)
Mr. Li Isaiah (Chief Executive Officer)
FRMEITE ((TEARRL)

BOARD STATEMENT

The Group understands that the importance of efficient ESG
governance to corporate sustainability. Therefore, the Group has
developed an ESG management framework to ensure the effective
implementation of relevant ESG policies in its operations. The Board
is primarily responsible for supervising ESG governance matters of
the Group. For instance, determining the Group’s ESG approach,
managing ESG related risks, as well as supervising the management
and relevant departments in formulating relevant policies with
appropriate measures. The board also requires the management
of the group to report ESG-related matters and provide follow-up
developments in a timely manner, such as when ESG performance
indicators deviate significantly from pre-set targets, serious ESG
incidents, and changes in regulatory requirements.

BIFRITESR
Mr. Fenn David
SEfERRE
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew
sRERE
Mr. Chan Ting Fung
BREE L
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The board of directors currently consists of 5 male members,
including 2 executive directors and 3 independent non-executive
directors. The Board Diversity Policy of the Group specifies that
the composition of the Board shall be considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All Board members’ appointment will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board.
In the future, we are looking forward to appointing at least one new
female director in accordance with the requirement of Section J of
Appendix C1 — “Corporate Governance Code” and Rule 17.104
of GEM Listing Rules no later than 31 December 2024. The
objective of board diversity will be periodically reviewed to ensure
appropriateness and the progress towards achievement.

The Board is responsible for:

e appointing key personnel in charge of the Group’s ESG
matters;

e approving ESG strategies, action plans and targets;
e approving the resources required to implement ESG-related
measures;

e monitoring the progress and performance of ESG initiatives;
and

e reviewing and approving the annual ESG reports.
Management is responsible for:

e identifying and assessing ESG-related risks and opportunities
and report to the Board;

e developing ESG strategies, action plans, targets and arranging
works accordingly;
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e  ensuring appropriate and effective ESG risk management and
internal control systems are in place;

e reporting to the Board on the progress and performance of
ESG work; and

e reviewing and submitting annual ESG report to the Board for
approval.

Functional departments are responsible for:

e  coordinate and implement specific ESG policies and measures;

e  report to the management on ESG work regularly;

e collecting information and data in relation to ESG performance
of the Group; and

e preparing annual ESG reports and reporting to the
management.

The Board will continue to observe the ESG-related work and keep
up on the latest ESG disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. The Board will also ensure close collaboration
between all departments to achieve the goal of operational
compliance, shoulder on social responsibility and develop clearer
ESG objectives and targets for the Group in the future for striving
better performances and better aligning with stakeholders’
expectations.

PARTICIPATION OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Group actively strives to better understand and engages its
stakeholders to ensure continuous improvements. The Group
strongly believes that its stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining
the success of its business in the challenging market.
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Stakeholders

Rn &

The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange

BBMRFR

Probable issues of concern

BENRIER

Compliance with the Listing Rules, and
timely and accurate announcements

Er LR B R (R A

Communication and responses
iR ] fE

Meetings, training, roadshows, workshops,

programs, website updates and
announcements

G EIIRE T -EE - HIEE
i YN

The Government

Compliance with laws and regulations,
prevention of tax evasion, and social

Interaction and visits, government
inspections, tax returns and other

welfare information
BT BFERER BRARMEAEEN EIHERESH BFEE -RMELKEMER
Suppliers Payment schedule, stable demand Field investigation
Mg IMEER RERE K BhER

Shareholders/Investors

BREEE

Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, and
investment returns

TRERERRA EBRERRFUREK
= EIE

Organizing and participating in seminars,
interviews, shareholders” meetings,
providing financial reports and/or
operation reports to investors, media and
analysts

BB Z2EDKEE RO AR
RS S sk s RERAE IR
WER/HEERS

Media and Public

Corporate governance, environmental
protection, and human right

Publishing newsletters on the corporate
website

1RR8 KA R TEEB RRRAE INYNSTEEV RS =)

Customers Product quality, delivery times, reasonable  Field investigation and after-sales services
prices, service value, labour protection
and work safety

eSS EmE R RIEE SIRERE R Bt E RN EBRS

BE - FIFRERTIFRZE
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Stakeholders

FnE

Probable issues of concern

BUENRIER

Communication and responses

BBELOE

Employees Rights and benefits, employee Discussion between employees and
compensation, training and executives, trainings, interviews with
development, work hours, and working employees, employee handbooks, internal
environment memos, employee suggestion boxes

(== R 48R ~ B 23RN~ IEFI L EE R ~ HESRTENm Bl - EESETHE
TEBRFEE e TAFIRIR TR EEFM FEANISESR

RIIEBEERME

Community Community environment, employment Community activities, employee
and community development, and volunteering activities, community
social welfare welfare, subsidies and charitable

donations

) HERE - BERMEZERUKMER HEEH EERLEE HERHE E

<

I

B R E18 08

Industry Association

TEHE

Advocate fair competition through
compliance with laws and regulations,
standardizing product and services of
association members and coordinating
members

BRETEEER REGTRENE
F*DHE?ZEZTMDHEZEXTEEQEE

A B

Meetings, seminars, workshops and direct
announcements

i
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

For the Reporting Year, the Group has undertaken its materiality
assessment exercise. This involved conducting surveys with
internal and external stakeholders including the management,
employees, customers, suppliers, industry associations, community
organizations and investors to identify the most significant
operating, environmental and social impacts towards the
Group'’s business. With reference to the reporting scope and the
consideration towards the corporate business characteristics, the
Group has identified related material topics and is detailed in the
following diagram:
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ESG Topics
RIE-HEREAREE
Environmental Issues

IRfRAEE

Greenhouse gas emission/
global warming

RERBEHIR 2 IR

Exhaust air emission

B R BER

Energy consumption

BETREFE

Water consumption

HCOHFE

Hazardous waste/sewage

BEBEEY,/ 75K

Non-hazardous waste/
sewage

BmEBERY), 5K

Paper consumption

ARSRIHFE

Climate change

R fRE1E

Compliance with
environmental laws and
regulations

BTIRMEARER

/"

ESG Topics

R -HERERBEE

Social Issues
tEME

No. ESG Topics
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Operational Issues
SEME
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As shown in the diagram above, the material ESG topics of the
Group covers issues in the 3 aspects, in which 5 most important
ESG issues are identified, namely compliance with environmental
laws and regulations, customers’ privacy, product quality and safety,
operational compliance and anti-corruption. The importance of
these issues highlights the Group’s principle in being responsible in
both the environmental and social aspect while also strictly abide by
its operational standards and maintaining the quality of its service.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to maintain communication
with various stakeholders and collect opinions through different
channels more extensively for making substantive analysis. At the same
time, the Group will also revise the reporting principles of materiality,
quantification, and consistency to better align with the expectations of
stakeholders and reporting requirements regarding the content of the
ESG Report and the presentation of the information when necessary.
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SECTION A: ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group strongly believes in the virtues of sustainable
development, and that its business development should not be
achieved at the expense of the environment. While pursuing
growth in sales of diesel oil in Hong Kong, the Group stays
committed to protecting the nature. The Group endeavors to
integrate components of environmental sustainability into its
business operations through various measures, so as to raise its
employees’ awareness, as well as better monitor its carbon emission
level and the relevant intensity.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not find any material
non-compliance issue with relevant laws and regulations related to
the environment. The Group will continue to be alert to any non-
compliance behavior related to critical environmental issues.

A1 Emissions

The Group is committed to promoting environmental health
and human well-being. Environmental protection and emissions
reduction are always the top priority at the Group. The emissions
data has been measured for better understanding its environmental
impacts and taking meaningful actions in the future.

Air Emissions

Combustion of diesel oil from vehicles was the main culprit of
the Group's emissions of air pollutants, including nitrogen oxides
("NOx"), sulphur oxides (“SOx") and particulate matters (“PM")
etc. Due to the limitation in data collection for the distance travelled
by the vehicles, the Group’s air emission was estimated by the unit
of diesel oil consumed by the vehicles?. The composition of its air
emissions was as below:

ABRSY | IRIR

AEBRGEAFELEERNGTE BEFERET
ELBMIRIE AN B -BREBRRHER R
R ZEBETRAONFREB R AEEE
BEERENBERREIRFEERNIESH
ABFERNEBEET URSEEEH
() Ry 5B 47 3t 85 42 7 & [ B9 Bk HF UK 7 R AR R

RESEE ~EBTEFREMEEERHA
RIFEAMNAREREEENEE - AEERE
BIRMEBRERFEERBANEENAERET
Ao

A1

AEBEBNIRAIRBRER BB IRRF
KRB —ERTEBRNEEZTFER -2
STEHFBIEIE M B ARAM T R FER I8
RIBFEUMERREDAERENTH

AR

EWMBEBREEEAEBRRR SR
BHTHR EERASEYEERAKEY
(TNOx ) ~FREAEY) (TSOX 1) K fa ¥ kL
(TPM ) F-AREREMDBAWETHRER
HEHEZEIRS AERNKRFBIIZE
AR SRR B AL c REB KRR
AUAEARINT :

ARG BRA R 2023/2024 F4R 57



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B -HERELGERS

58

Nitrogen
Oxides ("NOx")
|ty

711.1
kg T2

Particulate
Matters ("PM")
A T

51.6
kg F52

The different intensity figures in this ESG report were calculated using
the monthly average number of vehicles (including private cars under
the Group and the private cars not held by the Group but used for daily
operations) and monthly average number of employees, which were 8.75
(FY2022/23: 11.42) and 15.42 (FY2022/23: 19.75) respectively as at 31
March 2024.

By estimating the travelling distance based on the units of fuel consumed
by the vehicles, using the “Transport — Energy Utilization Index” issued
by Electrical and Mechanical Services Department at https://ecib.emsd.
gov.hk/index.php/hk/energy-utilisation-index-hk/transport-sector-hk. The
calculation of travelling distance of the Previous Financial Year has been
adjusted according to the principal group of Energy Utilization Index to
present a more accurate data.
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During the Reporting Year, the total air emissions amounted to
approximately 763.4 kg (FY2022/23: 591.98 kg?), with an increase
of approximately 29.0% compared with the financial year ended
31 March 2023 (the “Previous Financial Year” or “FY2022/23").
Correspondingly, the air emission intensity amounted to
approximately 87.2 kg per vehicle (FY2022/23: 51.9 kg per vehicle),
with monthly average number of 8.75 vehicles* (including light
goods vehicles, oil tanks, tractors and private car) operating under
the Group during the Reporting Year, showing an increase of
approximately 68.3% compared with last year.

The revenue of the Group is principally generated from the sale of
diesel oil to the customers of logistic companies and construction
companies in Hong Kong which require diesel oil to operate their
logistic fleets. The increase in air emissions was mainly due to
increase of market demand for diesel oil from the logistics sector.

While the Group's air emissions largely depend on market demands,
the Group will continue to record and evaluate its air emission data
while giving annual disclosure of the relevant data. By this means,
the Group keeps a close eye on the effectiveness of the Group’s
measures and continue to invest in emission reduction in the future.
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To this end, the Group has set preliminary directional targets in
terms of maintaining or reducing air emissions. The Group will
review the progress and explore more opportunities for better
environmental protection performance.

3 The calculation of travelling distance of the Previous Financial Year has
been adjusted according to the principal group of Energy Utilization Index
to present a more accurate data.

4 There was 1 light goods vehicle disposed during the Reporting Year,
therefore monthly average number of vehicles is used for calculation of
intensity.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emissions

Greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions are the main contributors to
global warming. In an effort to reduce GHG emissions and carbon
footprint, the Group embraces green practices in its day-to-day
business operations, contributing to environmental conservation,
natural resource preservation and waste reduction.

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded approximately
132.79 tonnes of GHG emissions (FY2022/23: 103.65 tonnes),
with an increase of 28.1% compared with the Previous Financial
Year. The corresponding GHG emission intensity amounted to
approximately 15.18 tonnes per vehicle (FY2022/23: 9.08 tonnes
per vehicle®), with average number of 8.75° vehicles (including
light goods vehicles, oil tanks, tractors and private car) operating
under the Group during the Reporting Year, showing a increment of
approximately 67.1% compared with the Previous Financial Year.
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With the sales of diesel oil being the principal business, the Group’s
GHG emissions were mainly attributed to the direct emissions from
the combustion of diesel oil used by vehicles in delivering products
to customers with a total of 86.8% of the total GHG emissions, and
direct emissions due to diesel used by private cars on daily operation
accounted for approximately 2.8% of the total GHG emissions.
Total direct emissions amounted to approximately 89.6% of the
total GHG emissions during the Reporting Year. Other emission
sources included indirect emissions due to electricity consumption,
paper waste disposed at landfills, electricity used for processing
fresh water and sewage by the corresponding government
departments, accounting for the remaining 9.6% of the total GHG
emissions. The composition is illustrated as follows:

Total Emissions
HEE 2

132.79 .

Tonnes M

> The calculation of travelling distance of the Previous Financial Year has
been adjusted according to the principal group of Energy Utilization Index

to present a more accurate data.

6 The different intensity figures in this ESG report were calculated using
the monthly average number of vehicles (including private cars under
the Group and the private cars not held by the Group but used for daily
operations) and monthly average number of employees, which were 8.75
(FY2022/23: 11.42) and 15.42 (FY2022/23: 19.75) respectively as at 31
March 2024.
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The Group’s detailed greenhouse gas emissions breakdown in the — Zs £ B 7 3R & & E Y 51 4108 = S BE BE R BE 41
Reporting Year can be found in the table below. These data will — EF ™3 o 52 5 $UE #5487 BB 7E B R AR BUB LB
be used as a benchmark for comparison with future data, so that ~FYE# > MEAREBN BB EH RIS R
informed decisions and meaningful actions can be taken by the EXAE&ZERERELUR /D AEEERBIBEHY) o
Group to reduce emissions in different categories in the future.

GHG produced in  GHG produced in % change
GHG Emission Sources 2022/23 (tonnes) 2023/24 (tonnes) (approximately)

20224 /235 2023%F 245
EENEERE ELNEERE EHE

RERBRBERE (1) )] (B#)
Scope 1 - Direct emission from diesel and petrol ~ #3[E —— 4850 K HHFE
combustion (vehicles and private cars) FTESNEEHR
(BHXRIKE) 94.87 118.94 125.4%
Scope 2 - Indirect emissions from electricity #HE—-ENHED
consumption’ ke 7.86 12.74 162.1%
Scope 3 - Other indirect emission sources EE = - R RRR
— Paper waste disposal at landfills — IR IEIEIEH
EE AR 12 024 042
. . “w 119.5%
— Electricity used for processing fresh water® —MKEIEFTRE? 0.41 0.40
— Electricity used for processing sewage® — S KEEFAE 0.28 0.28
— Business air travel by employees —EEEEMEHE - -
Grand Total st 103.66 132.79 128.1%
GHG Emission Intensity per vehicle and SHEHRMLREN
private car BERBHNEE 9.08 15.18 167.1%
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GHG emissions from scope 1 increased by 25.4% compared with
the Previous Financial Year. As aforementioned, the increase in GHG
emissions was mainly due to the demand of diesel oil from the
logistics companies and construction companies has increased.

The emissions from both scope 2 and scope 3 increased compared
with last year, showing an increase of approximately 62.1% and
19.5% respectively, which was mainly due to the Group started
a new business of producing and trading of diesel exhaust fluid
starting from November 2022. Diesel exhaust fluid is made with
32.5% urea and 67.5% deionized water. The Group used water
and electricity for heating, dissolving and mixing the chemical in the
production process.

As aforementioned in the “Air Emissions” section, while the
Group’s direct GHG emissions from fuel combustion by mobile
sources largely depends on market demands, the Group will
continue to record and evaluate its air emission data while giving
annual disclosure of the relevant data. Besides, only certified energy
efficient products will be purchased as office equipment. Employees
are also highly encouraged to adopt natural lighting whenever
possible.

On the other hand, the Group upholds the 3Rs principle, namely
reduce, reuse and recycle. We promote reduction in consumption
of electricity, water resources, paper and stationery. Employees are
reminded to adopt double-side printing, while single-side-printed
paper is collected for reuse. A whiteboard is also adopted in the
office area, so that the Group’s employees can use it for discussion
instead of using paper.
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Moving forward, the Group will continue to monitor and control
its GHG emissions in a bid to contribute to energy conservation,
maintain or cut down its greenhouse gas emissions and carbon
footprint as far as possible.

’ The carbon emission of China Light and Power (“CLP") was 0.39 kg CO2e/
kWh for the year 2023 as announced in their Sustainability Report 2023.

8 Purchased electricity consumption per unit volume of fresh water treated
was taken as 0.621 kWh/m3, as latest announced by Hong Kong Water
Supplies Department in their 2021/22 Sustainability Report (the latest
Sustainability Report).

9 Purchased electricity consumption per unit volume of sewage treated
was 0.30 kWh/unit, as latest announced by Hong Kong Drainage Services
Department in their 2021/22 Sustainability Report.

Waste Management

The Group will try to continuously decrease the capacity of landfills
and the availability of suitable land for landfills. Together with
the significant environmental impacts of waste disposal, waste
reduction has always been one of the Group’s objectives.

Hazardous Waste

As aforementioned, the Group’s core business involves the sales
of diesel oil, production and sales of diesel exhaust fluid. For
production of diesel exhaust fluid, water filtration system was
installed for processing the residual liquid to purified water for
the next production process. Therefore, no hazardous waste such
as chemical waste and clinical waste was produced during the
Reporting Year.
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Non-hazardous Waste

The Group's non-hazardous waste was mainly composed of paper
waste. During the Reporting Year, the total paper waste produced
amounted to approximately 0.09 tonnes (FY2022/23: 0.05 tonnes),
with a corresponding non-hazardous waste intensity of 0.006
tonnes per employee (FY2022/23: 0.003 tonnes per employee),
considering the monthly average number of employees being
15.42 in the Reporting Year (FY2022/23: 19.75).
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Logging is involved in paper production process, provoking both
direct and indirect negative impacts on the environment. To
advocate waste reduction within the Group’s workplace, the Group
has encouraged the Group’s employees to adopt double-side
printing, with single-side-printed paper being collected for reuse.
In the Reporting Year, the total non-hazardous waste disposed
by the Group and the waste intensity increased approximately
by 75.0% and 89.2%. The increase was mainly due to the
continuously increase of business activities and started a new
business of producing and trading of diesel exhaust fluid starting
from November 2022.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to implement the above-
mentioned resource saving measures and strive for reduction in
paper consumption, so as to maintain or reduce the production of
paper waste and its corresponding emissions.
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A2 Use of Resources

The Group pledges to become an environmental friendly and a
sustainable enterprise. To reduce carbon emission and footprint, the
Group has implemented a range of carbon reduction measures in
the Group’s daily operations, ranging from the adoption of energy-
saving equipment to the promotion of 3Rs principles among the
employees.

Energy Consumption

In the Reporting year, the total energy consumption amounted
to approximately 32,675.0 kWh (FY2022/23'°: 20,155.33 kWh),
with electricity being the only source of energy. The corresponding
energy consumption intensity, which is calculated by dividing
the electricity consumption by the monthly average number of
employees, was approximately 2,119.46 kWh per employee
(FY2022/23: 1,020.52 kWh per employee).

Compared with the previous year, the Group’s energy consumption
and intensity have increased by 62.1% and 107.7% respectively.
The increase in energy consumption was mainly due to the start-up
of a new business of production and sales of diesel exhaust fluid in
November 2022, which leads to increased electricity consumption.
The breakdown of the Group energy consumption by month is as
below:
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On top of external factors, the Group has continued to invest
in energy conservation, such as purchasing certified energy
efficient products as office equipment. The Group has reminded
the employees to switch off idle electronic appliances and lights.
The Group will put continuous effort in the aspect of energy
conservation to further minimize carbon footprint of the Group.

In the future, the Group will continue to actively implement its plans
and measures to achieve the goal of energy saving and efficient
consumption.

1 The monthly electricity consumption in FY2022/23 were not calculated
by the exact number of days. Instead, the electricity usage data on the
electricity bill received in the month was taken as monthly electricity usage
of that month.
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The total water consumption' in this Reporting Year amounted
to approximately 928.8 m? (FY2022/23: 950.25 m3). The
corresponding water consumption intensity, which is calculated by
dividing the water consumption by the monthly average number of
employees, was around 60.25 m? per employee (FY2022/23: 48.11
m? per employee).

The total water consumption increased was mainly due to the new
business of production and sales of diesel exhaust fluid starting
from November 2022. The Group used water and electricity for
heating, dissolving and mixing the chemical in the production
process, therefore increased the water consumption.
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The Group's water consumption is principally associated with the
new business of production and sales of diesel exhaust fluid. Water
filtration system was installed for processing the residual liquid to
purified water for the next production process.

As the water was supplied by the Water Supplies Department, there
was no water supply issue identified for the Reporting Year.

Effective use of water can significantly whittle down the indirect
consumption of electricity during water processing. The Group
encourages its employees to save and use less water by promoting
water conservation among its staff with the help of reminders
posted next to water taps.

Nonetheless, the Group is committed to the conservation of water
resources. We will continue to monitor our use of water closely, so
as to minimize the corresponding carbon footprint.

Looking ahead, the Group will actively implement its plans and
measures in water-saving to maintain or reduce the intensity of
water consumption.

" The monthly water consumption was not calculated by the exact number
of days. Instead, the water usage data was calculated by dividing the water
consumption data on the water bill roughly by the number of months
involved.

Packaging Material
As the Group's core business involves the sales of diesel oil, we

did not find any significant usage of packaging materials in the
Reporting Year.
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A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group believes that business development should not be
achieved at the expense of the environment. As such, the Group
has been implementing various environmental friendly practices
in various aspects as mentioned above. More resources will be
invested in this aspect to further upgrade the Group's equipment
and its existing vehicles according to the environmental standards
in Hong Kong in the future and reduce our carbon footprint.

With the Group's dedicated effort in environmental protection,
the Group is pleased to report that no material non-compliance
issue regarding relevant laws and regulations was identified in the
Reporting Year. To keep up with this achievement, the Group will
continue to monitor its use of resources and strive to further reduce
its consumption, in a bid to contribute to environmental protection

as an environmental friendly and a sustainable enterprise.
A4 Climate Change

Fossil fuel consumptions and human activities are largely
responsible for climate change due to increased emissions of heat
trapping gases like carbon dioxide into the atmosphere. Given the
high concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere, there
is an urgent need to transition into a more sustainable and low-
carbon economy for curbing global warming and its accompanying
detrimental effects.

The Group acknowledges the threat of climate change confronting
humanity at the present time. As the primary business of the Group
is under the energy sector, it is vital for the Group to understand
its corporate role in addressing climate change threats, which
could impact the Group in terms of its profitability, resilience, and
sustainability in business in the long run. Therefore, integrating
climate considerations into the Group's decision-making process
and strategic business planning is crucial for developing an effective
action plan to adapt its operation to the uncertainties brought by
climate change. Moreover, the Group shares the responsibilities to
reduce its emissions and join the endeavour in relieving the impact
from climate change as far as possible.
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The physical risks faced by the Group includes a higher frequency
and intensity of severe weather events, with extreme precipitation
and tropical cyclones being the most dominant threat faced by
the Group and its employees. While these events endanger the
safety of employees working at the premises or delivering diesel
oil to destinations designated by the customers, the goods and
services provided by the value chain may also be disrupted due to
obstruction towards logistic of products to customers caused by the
extreme weather conditions. In this regards, the Group has already
established guidelines regarding working arrangements under bad
weather conditions such as rainstorm and tropical cyclones in order
to ensure the safety of employees.

On the other hand, long-term temperature change may lead
to various environmental conditions, including rising sea level,
precipitation pattern changes, and possible reduction of water
availability. Refineries and petrochemical plants of the upstream
explorer and producer in the oil and gas industry may be faced
with the problem of water scarcity and possible flooding problems.
With the climate-related uncertainties affecting and threating
the exploration and production of diesel oil from the upstream
explorer and producer, the supply of diesel oil to the Group may be
affected. Since the supply and production of diesel oil is unstable,
the procurement cost over diesel oil from the middle stream diesel
oil suppliers maybe relatively high, thus may bring negative impact
to the Group’s financial performance and business sustainability.
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Moreover, with more climate-related policies and initiatives
expected in the future, a possible increase in operational costs is
projected. For instance, the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“the Government”) announced “Hong
Kong's Climate Action Plan 2050" (“Action Plan”) on 8 October
2021, which outlines the strategies and targets for combating
climate change and achieving carbon neutrality. In the Action
Plan, one of the major decarbonization strateies includes green
transport, which the Government aims to achieve target of zero
vehicular emissions and zero carbon emissions in the transport
sector before 2050, through the electrification of vehicles. Thus,
the Government has also announced the “Hong Kong Roadmap
on Popularization of Electric Vehicles”. The Government has
implemented several key measures in promoting the replacement of
diesel commercial vehicles in phasing out Euro IV diesel commercial
vehicles (including light, medium and heavy goods vehicles) starting
from 2020, has planned further promoting the use of electric
vehicles for commercial vehicles proactively from around 2025.
With the above measures by the Governement, additional costs of
replacements will be brought to the Group for the replacement of
existing commercial vehicles to more environmental friendly and
energy-efficient vehicles. Furthermore, due to the strategies and
measures to phasing out diesel commercial vehicles to promoting
the use of electric commercial vehicles, the demand of diesel
oil for commercial vehicles for logistic industries is expecting to
be decreased, this brings huge threat to the long-term financial
performance and business sustainability of the Group given that
diesel is the main product of the Group'’s business.

The Group will develop new business strategy and review its
existing business strategy for both long-term and short-term
in order to minimize the abovementioned physical risks and
transitional risks which affects both the financial performance and
business sustainability of the Group over different time frames.
Nevertheless, the Group is sought to being an environmental
responsible corporation, in which it will continuously optimize its
business model and advocate green business, so that corporate
strength could also be enhanced while achieving sustainability
concurrently.
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SECTION B: SOCIAL - EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR
PRACTICES

B1 Employment

Employees are fundamental to the Group's success. All the
Group’s employees’ contribution and dedication to the business
development are valued equally by the Group. The Group has put
continuous effort to provide a harmonious working environment
for its employees. In the meantime, the Group strives to grow with
its employees as it is mutually beneficial to both the employees and
its business development in the long run.

Our Employees
As at 31 March 2024, the Group consisted of 15 employees

(FY2022/23: 18 employees), of which all are from Hong Kong. The
composition of the Group’s employees is detailed below:
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By Gender By Employment Type
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The Group strives for a harmonious and inclusive working
environment, so that the employees are free from harassment
and discrimination. The employees of the Group are also recruited
regardless of their age, gender, marital status, pregnancy, family
status, disability, race, nationality, religion and/or sexual orientation.

Equal opportunities and diversity for all employees are highly valued
by the Group. Such employment opportunity policy is applicable to
the Group’s staff recruitment, remuneration, as well as termination
and dismissal. Job applicants will be required to attend interviews,
during which applicants’ performance will be assessed together
with their academic qualifications and other references available.
Background search will also be conducted for recruitment of staff
in higher ranks.

The Group also maintains employees’ compensation insurance
for all of its employees as required under the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and other applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The Group
operates defined contribution retirement benefits schemes under
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") schemes registered under the
relevant laws and regulations for our employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions to such schemes are based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not find any material

non-compliance regarding employment.
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Employee Benefits

Comprehensive remuneration package is provided to all of the
Group’s employees with reference to market practice and their
performance. On top of that, year-end bonus is awarded to staff
based on their contribution, as well as the Group’s performance.
Special bonus may also be given to staff with outstanding
achievement. Moreover, the Group contributes to the MPF and
provides employees’ compensation insurance in compliance with
the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong. Considering the needs
of employees in different job positions, different employees’
compensation insurance would be purchased for drivers and office
staff separately. Moreover, the Group also offers extra medical
insurance for better healthcare of the employees.

To enhance the performance and address the learning needs of the
Group's employees, annual staff assessment will be conducted. The
evaluating factors including team spirit, job responsibility, attitude,
punctuality, capability, quality of work and efficiency. Employees
with satisfactory results in the annual appraisal may be considered
for promotion, salary adjustment and bonus.
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Work-life Balance of Employees

The Group understands that adequate rest is crucial to the
sustainability of its workforce, thus it has developed corresponding
internal policies to help its employees achieve work-life balance.
To accommodate the routines of different job positions, different
working hours are assigned to drivers and office staff. Drivers are
working on shifts, while office staff are working from Monday to
Saturday. Our employees are engaged in 45 to 54 hours of work
each week, with at least 1 rest day to ensure sufficient rest. They
can also adopt flexible lunch hour based on their needs.

On top of these, the Group's employees are entitled to a range of
leaves, including annual leave, maternity leave, family bereavement
leave, as well as medical leave. To celebrate festivals and recognize
the contribution of the Group’s employees, the Group also
distribute gifts to its employees on special occasions such as Mid-
autumn Festival. The Group also organizes dinner gatherings upon
the end of the calendar year.

Talent Retention

During the Reporting Year, the employee-oriented approach
successfully achieved a healthy monthly average turnover rate at
approximately 1.94% (FY2022/23: 2.35%). The monthly average
turnover rate of employee by gender was approximately 1.28%
for male (FY2022/23: 3.08%); and 3.75% for female (FY2022/23:
Nil). The monthly average turnover rate by age group were
approximately 12.5% (26 to 35 years old), 0.93% (36 to 45 years
old) and 2.78% (56 to 65 years old). The monthly average turnover
rate for 18 to 25 years old and 46 to 55 years old was nil during the
Reporting Year.

Since all staff are from Hong Kong, the corresponding monthly

average turnover rate by geographical region was also 1.94%
(FY2022/23: 2.35%).
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Turnover Rate by Gender
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B2 Health and Safety

The Group is committed to safeguarding the safety, health and
welfare of all its employees. Not only does it aim to meet the
minimum occupational health and safety standards required
by law, but to exceed them for creating a safe and healthy
working environment. To realize this commitment, the Group
has implemented a number of policies with regard to keeping
workplace safety.

In accordance with “Dangerous Goods Ordinance (Cap. 295)", all
oil tank wagons and tractors under the Group have registered for
the relevant licenses from the authority to operate and deliver diesel
oil. They have been equipped with fire equipment for potential
hazards, while labels declaring the presence of inflammable goods
inside the vehicles have been attached to the front or rear end of
all vehicles. Vehicles are also under regular checks and maintenance
to ensure that they are in good condition. Besides, the Group
maintains a license register to keep track of all the licenses and their
respective expiry dates, so as to arrange renewal of the licenses in a
timely manner.

On top of these, all drivers are required to attend safety training
sessions organized by supplier (Sinopec Group) before they
are allowed to operate oil tank wagons in the oil depots. Only
authorized persons with relevant license from Sinopec will be
permitted in the oil depots. Smoking is strictly prohibited at oil
stations to prevent fire hazards. Meanwhile, a safety handbook
has been established and distributed to all the drivers responsible
for delivering diesel oil. It outlines the safety protocols for various
hazards, such as car crash of various severity, oil leakage and
fire. Emergency contacts for government bodies, hospitals, and
garages for maintenance are enclosed in the handbook as well.
The Group has also equipped its office and station with adequate
fire equipment and first aid tool box, with various signage posted
around the workplace to remind its employees of the importance
of work safety. All these measures help to create a safe working
environment and protect its employees from occupational hazards.
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In the meantime, the Group provides employee compensation
insurance to all its employees, which cover work injuries and other
medical needs. In case of work injury, our employees are entitled to
medical leave, so that they can have sufficient rest for recovery.

The Group is pleased to report that there was no work injury and no
fatalities (FY2022/23: nil, FY2021/22: nil) reported within our Group
in the Reporting Year. As the Group places its employee safety as
top priority, it will continue to strive for a safe and healthy working
environment for its employees.

B3 Development and Training

The Group encourages its employees to engage in continuous
learning, in order to equip themselves for future challenges. On-
the-job training is provided to all the newly recruited employees,
so that they can acquire all the necessary skills and knowledge for
their roles, as well as assimilating into the Group smoothly. Drivers
are required to attend safety training organized by Sinopec Group
before they are allowed to operate oil tank wagons in the oil
depots.

We have also set up a standardized operation manual for the
Group's employees’ reference.

During the Reporting Year, 5 employees (FY2022/23: 6 employees)
of the Group have received a total of 29.5 hours (FY2022/23:
41 hours) of training in the Reporting Year, the corresponding
percentage of employees who received training was 33%. The
percentage of trained employees by gender was 100% for male
and nil for female, while by employment level was 40% for
frontline staff, nil for middle management and 60% for senior
management. On the other hand, the average training hour
by gender was 2.5 hours for male and nil for female, while by
employment level was 1.6 hours for frontline staff, nil for middle
management and 2.7 hours for senior management.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to invest more resources
into its employee training and development, so that its staff can
keep abreast of the market changes and demands.
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B4 Labour Standards

The Group highly values human rights and it strictly complies with
all labour laws and regulations that prohibit child labour and forced
labour. During the course of our recruitment process, documents
authenticating the applicant’s identity and eligibility to work are
obtained and verified, so as to ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations. No person below the age of 18 will be hired
or forced to work at the Group. Any act of violence, with the
purpose of deliberately causing discomfort, threats and/or bodily
harm, as well as forcing employees to work, is strictly prohibited by
the Group. The Group’s employees are welcomed to report to the
management if they notice any potential violation, or if they are
experiencing forced labour. The management will investigate the
matter and take follow-up actions in serious manner, in a bid to
ensure that no employee is working against his/her will.

In the Reporting Year, there was no material non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations in relation to labour standards.
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SECTION B: SOCIAL — OPERATING PRACTICES
B5 Supply Chain Management

The Group believes that proper supply chain management could
bring positive impacts to the social environment in which it
operates, thus measures of quality assurance are in place to monitor
its supply chain closely. The Group maintains a list of approved
suppliers which have met its procurement requirements. Purchase
order will only be made with suppliers on the list, ensuring the
quality of the Group's products and mitigating the risk of potential
disruption in the Group’s supply chain. Regular assessment will
also be conducted to our suppliers so as to keep a close eye on the
standard of their products and services. New supplier assessment
will be conducted to the Group's new suppliers in order to ensure
the quality of the products provided by the suppliers and the quality
of the products fit the Group's procurement requirements.

The Group's suppliers are also encouraged to demonstrate
corporate social responsibilities by complying with the relevant
codes and business ethics with respect to business operations,
marketing activities, social contacts and environmental
responsibilities. The Group also encourages suppliers to adopt
environmental friendly practices such as saving resources, as well as
takes into account if suppliers comply with relevant environmental
laws, so that the products and services provided meet the
environmental standards of the regulations and the Group.
Moreover, any form of bribery is also strictly prohibited by the
Group, while confidential information related to business activities,
business structure, financial status and financial performance etc.
should only be disclosed in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations.
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With a limited number of suppliers in the industry, the Group's
strict supplier selection process and strategic partnership with our
suppliers have given us competitive edge. In the Reporting Year,
the Group has engaged 4 suppliers (FY2022/23: 6 suppliers) in
Hong Kong, supplying diesel oil and other materials. Long-term
relationship with these suppliers has also enabled stable supply
of products at reasonable prices. Moving forward, the Group will
look into any potential green procurement process when selecting
suppliers.

B6 Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to safeguarding the interests and safety
of the general public. Product Quality is one of the major concerns
for the Group and its stakeholders. As its core business involves
the sales and transportation of diesel oil, the Group understands,
the potential hazards surrounding its business activities, and the
Group endeavours to mitigate risks to the best of its ability. Oil tank
wagons and tractors under the Group are registered with relevant
license from the authority under the Dangerous Goods Ordinance
(Cap. 295), while safety hazard labels have been displayed on
the vehicles. The vehicles are also under regular checks and
maintenance to ensure that they are in good condition. Vehicles
which have failed to pass the checks will be strictly prohibited from
operating. All its drivers are required to attend mandatory induction
training to familiarize themselves with the operations of oil tank
wagons and the safety protocols. Meanwhile, safety handbook and
Industrial Safety Policy is distributed to all drivers for easy reference
and handling of products during delivery. The Group has continued
to place much emphasis on the importance of safe driving, strictly
prohibiting speeding and driving under the alcohol influence.

With its dedicated effort in upholding the safety standards,

the Group is pleased to report that there was no material non-
compliance with product responsibility during the Reporting Year.
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Quality Control

The Group’s diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid are sourced only
from the list of approved suppliers, all of which are authorized
agents appointed by the Oil Majors, so that consistent quality of
its products can be ensured. Diesel oil is transported directly from
oil depots of our suppliers to our customers’ premises, which
contributes to smoother delivery logistics.

The Group is pleased to report that we did not receive any
complaints or claims for compensation from our customers in
this Reporting Year. Given that the business nature of the Group
involves the sales and transportation of diesel oil, no products
sold or shipped were subjected to recalls for safety and health
reasons. The Group will continue to implement strict supply chain
management to keep up with its achievement.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group's core business involves the sales of diesel oil. There was
no intellectual property rights registered during the Reporting Year.

Privacy

The Group has established an Internal Guideline on inside
information, outlining the regulations and importance of inside
information protection. The guideline has been circulated to all
our employees so that they can familiarize themselves with the
protocols. Employees are strictly prohibited from disclosing any
inside information of the Group both during and after employment,
irrespective of the circumstances of termination. In particular,
pricing of our diesel oil is highly confidential, and its employees
should refrain from activities that may potentially result in leakage
of the information at all times. Failure to comply with the guidelines
would be deemed as severe misconduct, in which the employee
concerned may be subjected to summary dismissal.
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B7 Anti-corruption

All forms of bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited by the
Group. Employees should not offer, solicit or accept anything of
material value to or from their colleagues, customers, suppliers
or other business partner of the Group without permission from
the management. This applies to, but is not limited to, both
monetary and non-monetary gifts, loans, fee, reward, employment,
contract and service etc. Moreover, under no circumstances may
a director or employee offer benefits to any person or company
for the purpose of influencing the party in business dealings. A
whistleblowing mechanism has been set up to provide a reporting
channel for staff. Suspected non-compliance will be reported to
the Audit Committee. Employees found to have breached our
standards and be engaged in misconduct will be investigated and
may be subject to termination of contract, dismissal, or criminal
proceedings. Employees are welcomed to report potential cases of
misconduct through various channels, while the management will
take immediate action to investigate the issue in a serious manner.
The Group refers to ‘Anti-Corruption Programme — A Guide for
Listed Companies’ issuer by the Corruption Prevention Department
of Independent Commission Against Corruption as guideline
for employees in compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
Although there was no related anti-corruption training provided to
the employees of the Group during the Reporting Year, the Group
promises to arrange relevant trainings, if necessary, in the future.

The Group is pleased to report that there was no concluded legal
case in any forms of fraud brought against us or our employees
in the Reporting Year. The Group will continue to adopt the zero-
tolerance approach and stay alert to potential misconduct of its
employees.
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B8 Community Investment

The Group places much emphasis on community investment, and it
has continued to contribute back to the society in which it operates
in.

The Group has been making monthly donations to World Vision,
a renowned charitable organization aiming to alleviate poverty
among children around the world, as well as promoting public
education and raising public awareness of global issues such as
poverty, hunger, public health and children’s rights. The Group’s
donation to World Vision amounted to HKD2,640 for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

The Group did not participate in community services during the
Reporting Year. Notwithstanding, the Group will strive to participate
in other possible forms of community services whenever situation

allows.

The Group will continue to invest more resources and engage more
employees in community investment as far as possible, as well as
devoting its resources to areas other than alleviating poverty. By
doing so, the Group hopes to encourage its employees to serve
and give back to the community while promoting corporate social
responsibility and bringing positive impacts to the society as a
whole.
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ENVIRONMENT DATA IRIBE

Year ended Year ended

Emissions 31 March 31 March
2023 2024
. BE2023F  #EF20245F
3B31HLLEE 3A31HLEEE
Total air emissions'? ARBEBDHEE" 591.98 763.4  kilogram
T
Nitrogen oxides (“NOx") ag1ty (TNoxJ) 551.29 711.05  kilogram
T2
Sulphur oxides (“SOx") a1ty (F'soxy) 0.57 0.72  kilogram
T2
Particulate matter (“PM") Bk (TPm ) 40.11 51.62  kilogram
T2
Air emission intensity KRB EE 51.85 87.24  kilogram/vehicle
T3, EEl
Total greenhouse gas emissions BRERBAEGINE 103.65 132.79  tonnes
L
Scope 1 - Direct emissions (from mobile #[E——H1% 94.87 118.94  tonnes
combustion sources) e (kg2 g
BENRIER)
Scope 2 - Emissions from electricity #HE——-B/HFE 7.86 12.74  tonnes
consumption BIBER W5
Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions HE=—HMEE 0.93 1.10  tonnes
B U
Greenhouse gas emission intensity RERBEHREE 9.08 15.18  tonnes/vehicle
W&, =B &

2 The calculation of travelling distance of the Previous Financial Year has 2 _tF—BfBEEMNTEERECRIBEREEE
been adjusted according to the principal group of Energy Utilization Index IEHE EAEREITREE U2 BREREVEE -
to present a more accurate data.
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Year ended Year ended

Use of Resources 31 March 31 March
2023 2024
& BE2023F  #@EF20245F
3A31HLLEE 3A31HLLEE
Total electricity consumption BHFEEE 20,155.33 32,675.0 kWh
T REF
Electricity consumption intensity BIVHERE 1,020.52 2,119.46  kWh/employee
FRE/EE
Total water consumption KHFEARE 950.25 92882 m?
AR
Water consumption intensity KHERE 4811 60.25  m3employee
YAHK BB
Paper waste BEAR 0.05 0.09  tonnes
U
Paper waste intensity BE4R = FE 0.003 0.006  tonnes/employee
L=
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SOCIAL DATA

Year ended

31 March

2023
HE20234F
3B31HLLEE

Employment

21"

Total number of Employees BERH 18
Employees by Employment type ZERBEESNES

full time £330 100%

part time B -

temporary B& B -
Employees by Gender ZERBDNES

Male B 72%

Female gl 28%
Employees by Age Group BFERAERNEDHES

18-25 18-255% 0%

26-35 26-355% 22%

36-45 36-455% 39%

46-55 46-555% 22%

56-65 56-657% 17%

Above 65 655U - 0%
Employees by Geographic Region EMEEoNES

Hong Kong BB 100%
Employees by years of serving the Group ~ IZARFSAEB M EHREH

NEE

under 1 year DRE 6%

1-3 years 1-3% 1%

3-5 years 3-54F 33%

5-10 years 5-10%F 33%

over 10 years ZH105 17%
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Year ended

31 March
2024
#HFE20245
3A3MHLEE
15

100%

80%
20%

0%
0%
60%
27%
13%
0%

100%

7%
12%
27%
27%
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Year ended Year ended
Employee Turnover Rate 31 March 31 March
2023 2024
#E2023F #HZE20245
L i 3EMALEE  3HMALEE
Overall monthly turnover rate HEERRmAE 2.35% 1.94%
Monthly turnover rate by gender EMERIB DA TR X
Male B 3.08% 1.28%
Female 2% - 3.75%
Monthly turnover rate by age group HFER AR DY B A=
18-25 18-25m% - -
26-35 26-355% 3.06% 12.5%
36-45 36-455% - 0.93%
46-55 46-555% 1.67% -
56-65 56-657% 4.72% 2.78%
Above 65 655 LA £ - -
Monthly turnover rate by geographic region 3%h& 2|43 #Y B k=X
Hong Kong BE 2.35% 1.94%
Year ended Year ended
Health and Safety 31 March 31 March
2023 2024
N #E2023F #HZE20245
3B31HLLEE 3A31HLLEE
Number of work-related fatalities ATIETAH - -
Number of work-related injuries AIZEAH - -
Lost days BRIFBHE N/A N/A
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Development and Training

& Rt

Total training hours
Percentage of employees trained
By Gender
Male
Female
By Employee Category
Frontline employees
Middle management
Senior management

Average training hours completed per
employee

By Gender
Male

Female
By Employee Category

Frontline employees

Middle management

Senior management

Year ended

31 March

2023

#ZE20235F

3A31HLEFE

K23 R 8K 41

EEFEIIBEX 33%

el

LRk 100%

pegia -
ZIES%EH

—iREE 33%

HREEE -

SREERE 67%

SHEETEMRZIINN 3.2 hours

Ralid 3.2/

el

B4 3.2 hours

3.2/1\FF

pegi -
=kl

—iREER 1.0 hours

1.0/NBf

HREEE -

SR EIEE 4.2 hour

4.2/\FF
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Year ended
31 March
2024

#F20245F
3B31HLLEE
295

33%

100%

40%
60%

2.5 hours
2.5/\BF

2.5 hours
2.5/\BF

1.6 hours
1.6/\FF
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Year ended Year ended

Supply Chain Management 31 March 31 March

2023 2024

e #E2023F #HZE20245

- 3A31HLLEE 3A31HLLEE

Number of suppliers HEmEE 6 4
Number of suppliers by geographic region — #Zith& 2|5 B9 HER EH

Hong Kong BE 6 4

Year ended Year ended

Product Responsibility 31 March 31 March
2023 2024
#E2023F #HE20245
3B31HLLEE  3H3MHLEEE

EmEE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped B & EEZ% E REHTE

subjected to recalls for health and safety EEREL2REAMARIUK N/A N/A

reasons MBS B ~EA
Number of products and service related HERRERKREN

complaints received ’IRE B - -
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Year ended

31 March

2023
#HZF2023F
331HILEFE

Anti-corruption

Number of concluded legal cases regarding ¥1#/7 A E{REIR I
corrupt practices brought against the BEENESHFREYN

issuer or its employees

Year ended

31 March

2023
#E2023%F
3A3MHLEE

Community Investment

HERE

Corporate Charitable Donation (HKD) PERSIEMR (B $2,640
2,640 7T

Employee Volunteering BEERT
Number of employee volunteers EEZTH#HE -
Total number of service hours Ak 75 48 By 24 N/A
TE A
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Year ended

31 March
2024
#F20245F
3A31HIEEE

Year ended

31 March
2024
#2024
3A3MHLEE
$2,640
2,640E 7T

N/A
~ERA
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

Aspects
=]

A. Environmental
A IRIE

A1. Emissions

A1EER Y

ESG Indicators

RIE-HERERIER

General Disclosure

— BT

KPI A1.1
RS AR IS IZA 1
KPI A1.2

BASRAE IS IRAT.2

KPI'A1.3

BB FEIRAT 3

KPIA1.4

RFRREMIEIRA1.4

Description
it

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
ERERAORERBHR MKk HNEEE-EAE
REEEEYNELISNBRKETHETARSE
FENERERRROIBER -
The types of emissions and respective emission data.

BERY) TE A R 1B RE HE B -
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)

greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B #E) REREE EED) AERBIINE
UUMESTE) & (ER) BE MUSEEEN 818
whstE) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FREEEEREEYRE CUEEE) k (MER) BE
N EESEBEA - BERMAE) ©

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,

i

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FTEEREZEEYEE CIEE) k NBR) BE
U EESEA BERMEHE) o

i

AR A RAT 2023/2024 F£35

BRI -HEREBRRSIEIATRGIR

57-65

57-60

61-64

64

65
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Aspects

B

A2. Use of Resources

A2.ERER

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBER

KPI'A1.5

B REMIEIRATS

KPI'A1.6

A ISIRAT.6

General Disclosure

— i
KPI A2.1

B SRR AR 1RA2.1

KPI'A2.2

R AE IS IZEA2.2
KPI A2.3

RS FE1RA2.3

KPI A2.4

RSRAEIERA2.4

KPIB2.5

Description
it

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to 65

achieve them.
HIFAE] LN E B R R AEIZER
B B o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous 65

TRPTEREY

wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HINBRIEEENREEEEYN TG & RIWMERET LN
BEBERAEINZE BEMEERNT R

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including 66-69

energy, water and other raw materials.

BMEAER (BIEFER  KREMEREME) B
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. 66-68
electricity, gas or ail) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
RERIONERE KL REEER WE - /IUh) &
#E USTHTREE MEBE IUSESE
I~ EBERMETE) °

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of

rl

67-68
production volume, per facility).

MEKERTE WUSESEN BEXRMH) o
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and 67-68

steps taken to achieve them.

TEEKFFI’DT_LE"J /}_Tﬁﬁﬁ)& Ejfﬁf&éj
FrEREX B9 2 B o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 68

BZEEE

water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

HE K EGE A 7K LBl B Rl RE - LURFrET 289 A

K B R AERZE BRI 5R o

Total packaging material used for finished products (in N/A
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit

produced.
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Aspects

=]

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBER

R AE R FE1RB2.5

A3. The Environment General Disclosure

and Natural
Resources
A3 IRIERKRAER

A4. Climate Change

Ad.miEEE

—MRINEE
KPI A3.1

B AR RS IRA3.T

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI'A4.1

B SRR AR 1RAL.1

Description

it

M mPT A BEEMEEE CUESTE) Rk (NER) &
FEBUGE-

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on
the environment and natural resources.

BIRETAHIRERRABE RSN ERTENBER
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.
HAEBEIHIRIGERRAERNEALERER
BEEARREENITE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

BRI REHE R RAIESHBITAEELENEKX
RIZIERAE ERIBER °

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the

issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
BB RN AR HETAELEFENERRIER
SR MEHTEH

B

69

69

69-71

69-71
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description

[Em RIF - ERERIERE

B. Social

B.#&

B1. Employment General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant 72-77

laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

B1.fE 1% — AR B8 BRI R~ B R E A TIER 8 (REA~ T &
e Zalb s RERUKREMGEERERNBER Kk
BTHETAREARENERNEERRLANEE

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for 73-75
example, full- or part-time), age group and geographical
region.

RASRAE RIS 1RB1.1 R EEAE QN2 BEFRE) - FiciER it&
gD EE®RE -

KPIB1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and 76-77

geographical region.

B SR AR AN F51RB1 .2 R FiRER e DREERAEK-

+
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Aspects

=]

B2.Health and
Safety

B2.EFEHEZ R

B3. Development
and training

B3.3 B R iE

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBER

General Disclosure

—fRIREE

KPI'B2.1

R 1E1RB2.1
KPI B2.2
RS AR 151%B2.2
KPIB2.3

RS AE R FE1RB2.3

General Disclosure

—fRIREE

KPI'B3.1

A B2 4R A F5 1B 3.1

KPI B3.2

RS AE R FE1RB3.2

B4. Labour standards General Disclosure

> 4

Description

it

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

EREHZE2N TERIERFREEREBRHEMLR
ENBRRETHETABEAZENEBEZE K
RAIBER

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years including the reporting year.

BE=F (BRERREFEE) BFRIETABMKLEX-
Lost days due to work injury.

RIEERIIEE#H-

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted how they are implemented and monitored.

B P ER AR BB SR (R R B 2 48 I DURABRAATT =
BERAE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
BRIEAEERIT LIFR B # R SERIEER o
ISR E) o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

ZURREESER WEhEEE -FREEES 2
DHZIEEB DL

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

R REESERE D 8L EETMZ N TR
2o

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

AR A RAT 2023/2024 F£35

78-79

79

79

78-79

79

79

79

80
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Aspects

B
B4.55 T# 8

B5. Supply chain
management

B5.{ft FE i EIE

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBER

— BB

KPI B4.1

R SR A SN 5 1RB4.1
KPI B4.2

B B2 AR AN F51%B4.2

General Disclosure
— AR EE
KPI B5.1

B SR AR 15 1%B5.1
KPI B5.2

R SR AE WIS 1%B5.2

KPI'B5.3

B SR AR AN F51%B5.3

Description

it

BRAM LB T sab s THBERRETHETAS
ERTENERERERROIBNER -

Description of measures to review employment practices 80

to avoid child and forced labour.

HIR s R IR E AR TE AR R B T Ko om bl 55 T o

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices 80
when discovered.

W B IR ER B REHRA RIB NPT IR D 5

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of 81-82
the supply chain.

EIRHEENIRIE R & R

Number of suppliers by geographical region. 81
‘i@ 8 DR EERE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 82
number of suppliers where the practices are being

implemented, how they are implemented and

monitored.

Hit BRI A EENIES > mMERITHERNHES

B URERNHITREER A

Description of practices used to identify environmental 81-82
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

gt A B (R SR S EIR B R IR IR et B AR89

TBA) > LU BRI T R B R 5 7%
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Aspects

=]

B6. Product
responsibility

B6.EmE1E

B7. Anti-corruption

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBER

KPI B5.4

B SR AR RN 51%B5.4

General Disclosure

— BB

KPI B6.1

% $2 4R A F51%B6 .1

KPI B6.2

FH S48 3 51%B6.2
KPI B6.3

RS 151%B6.3
KPI B6.4

R AEN151RB6.4
KPI B6.5

B SR AE R F51%B6.5

General Disclosure

> 4

Description

it

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting
suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

BT HEHEEREES BIRRERMRFE
Bl U ABRI A T B 5 7% ©

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and method of redress.

BRIFFEHERBRBNRREZS - BS - REK

TWREE MR ENBER KRB THETARR
T ENERERRROIBNER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.

EENBEXEmBEHPRZ L EREIEHMA[L

BB DL

Number of products and service related complaints

received and how they are dealt with.

RN ERMRBORFEE URELH A
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

ot B A S Ko AR PR AN B EE RE B RERVIBHI
Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

M E B T B2 K E m eI T -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.

i 10H B B MR RIE R AL B EUCR » LU ABRIHIT R 5
BRHEe

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

AR A RAT 2023/2024 F£35

81-82

82-83

82-83

82-83

83

82-83

83

84
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description
BE RIB-HERERER #Hik
B7.RIEH —AR IR ER BRAV LR - $1R MFF AR BN ERRETH
ETANBEACENEBERERROINER
KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 84

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the Reporting Year and the outcomes of the
cases.

RA 4G 5 1EB7 .1 PRREFEHETANHESRETEEENES
AR R BB R E R o

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 84
procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

AR AR X35 1RB7 .2 WL EE M R B RE T URERAHRITRERS
VAo

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to 84

directors and staff.
RS AE IS 1ERT .3 HhEEERETIREMNRE S
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description

fEm RIF - ERERIERE

B8.Community General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the 85
investment needs of the communities where the issuer operates and

to ensure that its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.

BS.itERE — AR EE BRAUMEZER THRET ANEEMTHLEREEM
BEREXZR IS ELEFZIEEK-
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 85

environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).

RE SR & A IE12BS.1 EISHEE WHBE RIEEE - HFTEHEREE-
XIE~EEH) ©

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus 85
area.

R SEAE XI5 1RB8.2 AEIHRBABAER WERNFR) -

IR ARAR 2023/2024 5% 101




REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ESERE

The Board are pleased to present the annual report together with
the annual audited financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Act as an exempted company with limited liability on
31 October 2017. The shares of the Company have been listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of placing and public offer on
8 January 2019 (the “Share Offer”). In connection with the listing
of the shares of the Company on GEM of the Stock Exchange, the
companies comprising the Group underwent a reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”). Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company
became the holding company of the subsidiaries comprising the
Group on 29 November 2018. Further details of the Reorganisation
are set out in the section headed "History and Development,
Reorganisation and Group Structure” of the Prospectus.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 11
to the consolidated financial statements. The principal activities
of the Group are the operation of the business of the sale and
transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 and the financial position of the Group as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 141 to
146. The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2024.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five years ended 31 March 2024 is set out
on page 224 of this report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 21
December 2018 (the “Prospectus”) and in the paragraph headed
"Comparison of implementation plans for business strategies with
actual implementation progress” in this report, the Group does not
have any future plans for material investments or capital assets as
at the date of this report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR
JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have
any significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

On the Listing Date, the Company’s shares were listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange. A total of 100,000,000 new shares with
nominal value of HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued at
HK$0.60 per share for a total of approximately HK$60.0 million.
The Net Proceeds received by the Company from the Share Offer,
after deduction of the underwriting commission and related
expenses in connection with the Share Offer, was approximately
HK$34.8 million. The Net Proceeds, upon receipt by the Company
after Listing, has been deposited at a bank and such Net Proceeds
will be applied in the manners consistent with the proposed
applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus, the UOP Announcements and the UOP
Announcement 2023.

> 4

M E

AEBBE2024F3831HLEBEREFED
TNEZEXEURBEEREBRREZHNARS
B224H o AR B A E AT XY HFRAKRAI—
B e

BERERKRERNEREENRREE

bR AT HEFA2018F 12821 H 2 BKRER
(HBRRETR)) RARSTEIRPIIEMIBEBRER] —
B AR E R REIEIT 2 B RIETE
ERLEE —BPREEIN BEARSHER
AEBUTEREIMEHEAKRENELREEN
REEETE o

ERKRE-EARBREEHRBAF

HEADRAEAT

REE2024F3831HIEFE  AEE T EE
TEAERRE-ERBBRHERBAR
MEATHEGERT

RRi7 S EFRIMERR

RETBH  ZAATRMINEAZMGEMLE
me A RBERERRKRMN0.60BTT HITEH
100,000,000f% & A& E{E0.01B TTHIFT AL 17 » 48
H60.0E BT AATRKRMDEERSH
PRIGMIRZER (KRB AT R ARG, %
EMERMAXE) 9R348E88 BT LHE
RABEWBIFMERIEREE  EFARIT
BRIFTS IR P AR R BRER IRRF B K
PISMERR —8 - RFEEMERIERR
N FR2023F B BRI RIBAR A MFTEBY
BRERA AU -

BRI AR AR 2023/2024 3% 103
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK OVERDRAFT AND BORROWING

The banking facilities available to the Group was approximately
HK$14.0 million and approximately HK$13.6 million of the banking
facilities was utilised.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
March 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 144.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024 the Company did not have any reserves
available for distribution as calculated in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2024, there has been no
purchase, sale or redemption of any Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2024 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman)
Mr. Li Isaiah (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Fenn David

Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew
Mr. Chan Ting Fung

IRt 35 pi3E

12202438310 AAB WL EEMRIESH

NEMFRBIRIIERARE St E 2 A () IR

R HENER EHES

BIFHHEEREE2024%E3831H #fi&E
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e
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=12 R /NS ===/ I N
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Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation at each AGM provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the relevant
AGM.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent and meet
the independent guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company on 11 December 2018 for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date
and shall continue thereafter unless terminated in accordance
with the terms therein. Under the terms of the service contract,
the service contract may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice served by either party on the other. The
term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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(b) Independent Non-executive Director

Each of the independent non-executive Director has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company and which may
be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by
either party on the other. The term of service of a Director is
subject to the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors
as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have a service contract and/or a letter of appointment with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than contracts expiring
or determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries, as applicable
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation).

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee by reference to the benchmarking of
the market. The Company also looks into individual Director’s
competence, duties, responsibilities, performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their responsibilities, workload, time devoted to the
Group and the performance of the Group.

(b) BWIFFAITES

BEUFATEFEHARTEEERE
B WA RER—F RS —HEEADR
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 126 to 132 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended
31 March 2024 or at any time during the year ended 31 March
2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended at 31 March 2024, the Company did not
enter into or have any management and/or administration contracts
in respect of the whole or any principal business of the Company.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, the Directors
are not aware of any business and interest of the Directors nor
the controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholder(s)”) nor any of their respective close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that compete or may compete
with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interests
which any such person has or may have with the Group since the
Listing Date and up to the date of this report. The independent non-
executive Directors confirmed that the internal control measures in
relation to managing actual or potential conflict of interest of the
Group have been properly implemented.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 11 December 2018, Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort Group
Limited (“Fully Fort”), the Controlling Shareholders, entered
into a deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-Competition”)
in favour of the Company (for itself and each of its subsidiaries),
pursuant to which each of Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort has
irrevocably and unconditionally, jointly and severally, warranted and
undertaken with the Company that, immediately upon the Share
Offer becoming unconditional, each of them shall not, and shall
procure each of his/its close associates (“Controlled Persons”) and
any company directly or indirectly controlled by Mr. Law Ming Yik
and Fully Fort (except for the members the Group) (”Controlled
Company”) not to except through any member of our Group,
directly or indirectly (whether on its own account or with each other
or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, or as
principal or agent, through any body corporate, partnership, joint
venture or other contractual arrangement and whether for profit
or otherwise), carry on, engage in, invest or acquire or hold any
rights or be interested or otherwise involved in any business that
is similar to or in competition directly or indirectly with or is likely
to be in competition with any business currently and from time to
time engaged by the Group in Hong Kong and any other country
or jurisdiction to which the Group carries on business or grants
franchise from time to time (“Restricted Business”).
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Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort further undertake that when any
Controlled Persons and/or any Controlled Company is offered or
becomes aware of any new project or business opportunity (“New
Business Opportunity”) directly or indirectly to engage or become
interested in a Restricted Business, he/it (i) shall promptly notify
the Company of such New Business Opportunity in writing, refer
the same to the Company for consideration first and provide such
information as may be reasonably required by the Company to
make an informed assessment of such New Business Opportunity;
and (ii) shall not, and shall procure that the Controlled Persons
or Controlled Company not to, invest or participate in any such
New Business Opportunity unless such New Business Opportunity
is declined by the Company, or the Company does not proceed
with such New Business Opportunity within 30 business days from
the date of the written notice (of if requested by the Company
in writing, such 30 business days period may be extended to a
maximum of 60 business days), and the principal terms of which
he/it and/or his/its close associates invest or participate in are no
more favourable than those made available to the Company.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to
the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders —
Non-Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus. Mr. Law Ming
Yik and Fully Fort have both confirmed to the Company of his/its
compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition from the Listing
Date up to the date of this report. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied by each of Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort and duly
enforced since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2024, there has been no
purchase, sale or redemption of any Company’s listed securities.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the
“SFO")) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (ii) to be
entered into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or (jii) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Long position in the shares RGP EFE
Percentage of
issued share
Capacity/ Number of capital of
Name of Director Nature of Interest shares the Company
HEAT]
B8ITRAE
E5Nn% 517 #wmtE &8 E B
Mr. Law Ming Yik Interest in a controlled corporation 25,111,000 62.78%
(Note 1) shares (L)
(Note 2)
mUERE R EE T (Wat1) 25,111,0008% 62.78%
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Notes:

(1)  The Company is owned as to 62.78% by Fully Fort which is wholly owned
by Mr. Law Ming Yik, the Chairman and an executive Director. Under the
SFO, Mr. Law Ming Yik is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Fully Fort.

(2)  The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules, notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Interests and short positions of the substantial Shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2024, so far as it is known to the Directors, the
following persons had or were deemed to have interests in shares
or underlying shares of the Company which (i) were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or (i) which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules, or (iii) who will be, directly or indirectly, be interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any member of the Group.
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Number of Percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
IR TE B, EElE FHERM#®E FRRBE S
Mr. Law Ming Yik Interest in a controlled corporation 25,111,000 shares 62.78%
(Note 1) (Long position)
BYERE R EEREm (W) 25,111,0008%
@A)
Fully Fort Group Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 25,111,000 shares 62.78%

EEEEBRAF BmBER A W)

Note:

1. The shares are held by Fully Fort, the equity interest of which is owned
as to 100% by Mr. Law Ming Yik. Mr. Law Ming Yik is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Fully Fort for the purpose of Part XV of
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors have
not been notified by any person who had interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Share Option Scheme

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the rules of
the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the resolutions
in writing of all the Shareholders (the “Share Option Scheme”)
passed on 11 December 2018 (the “Adoption Date”). The Share
Option Scheme became effective on the Listing Date. The terms of
the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(Long position)
25,111,0008%
wa)
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(a)

(b)

(o)

114

Purpose

The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to
grant options to subscribe for the Company’s shares (the
“Options”) to any director, employee or officer, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser
of or contractor to the Company or any of the subsidiaries
(the "Eligible Person”), as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group.

Participants

The basis of eligibility of any person to the grant of any Option
shall be determined by the Board from time to time on the
basis of his or her contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Grant of Options

The Board shall not offer the grant of Options to any Eligible
Persons after an inside information has come to the Company's
knowledge until the Company has announced the information
in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules. In particular, during the period commencing one month
immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the date of the Board
meeting (as such date is first notified to the Stock Exchange in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules) for the approval of the
Company’s results for any year, half-year, quarter-year period
or any other interim period (whether or not required under
the GEM Listing Rules), and (b) the deadline for the Company
to publish an announcement of the results for any year, half-
year or quarter-year period under the GEM Listing Rules or
any other interim period (whether or not required under the
GEM Listing Rules), and ending on the date of the results
announcement. The period during which no Option may be
granted will cover any period of delay in the publication of a

results announcement.
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Subject to paragraph (k) below, the total number of the
Company'’s shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted and to be granted to a participant under
the Share Option Scheme and other schemes (including both
exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the the Company’s shares from
time to time in issue, and provided that if approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such participant and his
or her close associates (or his or her associates if the participant
is a connected person) abstaining from voting, the Company
may make a further grant of Options to such participant (the
“Further Grant”) notwithstanding that the Further Grant
would result in the total number of the Company’s shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted
and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other
schemes to such participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of the Further Grant representing in
aggregate over 1% of the Company's shares from time to time
in issue. In relation to the Further Grant, the Company must
send a circular to the Shareholders, which discloses, amongst
other, information from time to time as required by the GEM
Listing Rules, the number and the terms of the Options to
be granted. The number and terms (including the exercise
price) of the Option which is the subject of the Further Grant
shall be fixed before the relevant Shareholders” meeting and
the date of meeting of the Board for proposing the Further
Grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price.
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(d)

(e)
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Exercise Price

The exercise price for any shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each participant and shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options,
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant Options; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share on the date of the grant.

Maximum number of Shares

(i)  The total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all Options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and other schemes must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit") unless approved by the
Shareholders pursuant to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme or other schemes will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit.
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U)

(9)

(i) No Option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since the Listing
Date and up to 31 March 2024 and thereafter up to the
date of this annual report. Accordingly, the total number
of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 4,000,000 shares as at 1 April 2023 and 31
March 2024, (adjusted based on the consolidation of
every ten existing shares into one consolidated share
effective from 19 February 2024) representing 10% of
the issued shares as at the date of this annual report.

Time of exercise of Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the applicable
option period, provided that, amongst others, the period
within which the Option must be exercised shall not be
more than 10 years from the date on which that Option is
deemed to have been granted. The exercise of an Option may
be subject to the achievement of performance target and/
or any other conditions to be notified by the Board to each
participant, which the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine.

Rights are personal to grantee

An Option shall be personal to the participant and shall not
be assignable or transferable and no participant shall in any
way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
interest whether legal or beneficial in favour of any third party
over or in relation to any Option. Any breach of the foregoing
by the participant shall entitle the Company to cancel any
Option or any part thereof granted to such Participant (to the
extent not already exercised) without incurring any liability on
the Company.
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(h) Minimum period for which an option must be held

(i)

()

118

before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must
be held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed
by the Board.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
Option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made, or loans for such purposes must
be repaid

The Eligible Person shall remit HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant upon acceptance of the Option.
The Option shall be offered for acceptance for a period of
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

Period of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date, after
which no further Options will be issued but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
in all other respects and the Options granted during the life of
the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately 4.5 years.

The Board may impose such terms and conditions on the offer
of Option(s) either on a case-by-case basis or generally as are
not inconsistent with the Share Option Scheme, including but
not limited to the minimum period for which such an Option
must be held, if applicable.
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(k) MEF FETHAEBRIFERTAKS

(k) Granting of Options to a Director, chief executive or

substantial Shareholder or any of their respective
associates

Any grant of Options to any Director, chief executive or
substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates,
must be approved by the Independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is a
proposed participant). If a grant of Options to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or any
of their respective associates will result in the total number of
the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options
granted and to be granted (including the Options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of the grant representing
in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other percentage as may from
time to time specified by the Stock Exchange) of the shares in
issue, such further grant of Options must be approved by the
Shareholders on a poll in a general meeting. The participant,
his or her associates and all core connected persons of the
Company must abstain from voting in favour at such general
meeting. The Company will send a circular to the Shareholders
containing the information as required under the GEM Listing
Rules. In addition, Shareholders’ approval as described above
will also be required for any change in terms of the Options
granted to a participant who is a substantial Shareholder, an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective
associates. The circular must contain the following:

(i) details of the number and terms of the Options (including
the exercise price relating thereto) to be granted to each
Eligible Person, which must be fixed before the relevant
Shareholders’ meeting, and the date of Board meeting for
proposing such further grant should be taken as the date
of grant for the purpose of calculating the Exercise Price;

(i) a recommendation from the Company’s Independent
non-executive Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is a proposed participant) to the
independent Shareholders as to voting; and
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(iii) all the information as required under the GEM Listing
Rules from time to time.

For the avoidance of doubt, the requirements for the granting
of Options to a Director or chief executive of the Company set
out in this paragraph do not apply where the Eligible Person
is only a proposed Director or proposed chief executive of the
Company.

Equity-Linked Agreement

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

Competing Interests

The Directors confirm that none of the Controlling Shareholders
or the Directors and their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in any business apart from
the business operated by the Group which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group's business during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the
Company confirms that all of the Directors complied with such
required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Apart from those as disclosed in the paragraph under “Interests
and Short Positions of Directors and Chief Executive in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and
its Associated Corporations”, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any directors or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable to the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporation.

Save as disclosed above and as provided in the Share Option
Scheme, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up
to the date of this report was the Company, any of its subsidiaries,
its associated companies or its holding companies a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company to hold any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The material related party transactions entered into by the Group
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements to
this report. During the Reporting Period, there was no connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM listing Rules which are required to
comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of
turnover attributed to the Group’s largest and the five largest
customers accounted for 32.1% and 76.7% (2023: 17.9% and
55.1%) of the total revenue of the Group, respectively. For the
year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s purchase from the largest
and the five largest suppliers accounted for 65.4% and 100%
(2023: 69.4% and 99.9%) of the total purchases of the Group,
respectively. At no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 did
the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the Group's
major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains good relationship with all of its employees
and offers competitive remuneration and benefits package to all
its employees. It also regularly reviews compensation and benefit
policies to ensure that they are in line with market conditions.

The Group shall continue to maintain good communications with its
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders through regular visits,
meetings, and conferences to ensure that they are all satisfied with
their relationship with the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers good corporate governance a key element in
managing the business and affairs of the Group. The management
of the Group periodically reviews and proposes amendments to
its corporate governance practices for compliance with the CG
Code. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the CG Code during the Report Period. Details of the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 44 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the
laws of Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, a directors’ liability
insurance was currently in place to protect the Directors against
potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought against the
Directors.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 15 employees in Hong Kong
(2023: 18 employees in Hong Kong). The remuneration package
the Group offered to our employees includes salary, bonuses and
other cash subsidies. In general, the Group determines employees’
salaries based on each employee’s qualifications, position and
seniority. The Group has designed an annual review system to assess
the performance of our employees, which forms the basis of its
decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions.
The Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme which covers the Group's employees in Hong Kong. There
was no forfeited contribution available to reduce the contribution
payable by the Group in future years.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the
material factors underlying its results and financial position can be
found in the management discussion and analysis set out on pages
7 to 21 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group strives to operate in compliance with the applicable
environmental protection laws and methods to minimise the
adverse effects of its existing business activities on the environment.
Details of the environmental policies and performance are set out
in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 45 to 101 of this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Wednesday, 21 August
2024, while the notice and circular convening the AGM will be
published and dispatched to the Shareholders in the form required
in the GEM Listing Rules in due course.

124  SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024

8 8 BB B R

R2024F3A8318  AEBREEBHEB15%E
B (2023F . REBHEB18%ER) - AEH
BEERENFNSEEEHFS CAKEM
Refihe—RmMs 2EERESEENE
B -BUKFEETEEFS -A£EEEHE
FEREFI LG EEENRIR LEHI7R 2
BARAFS TCARFABRENEE - KE
E2HERERFBRAREN R ZE8RESR
EEREBNEE - WMES BB TARAE
DEREBRREFERLG Z MR

ES )

BRAAFERNETRREFNRATOBEREE
BRI ETsm R DT LUK B 2 8 R B AR O
BRNERRRHINAERBTE21 BT
WEEESmR D - BRS RERARE—

oo

IRIBBR BRI

REBR NN ERBEARERELIERA
EE RERVAERREERTEHIRES
AN EmEmEE RIEBERRIBZHBHNA
REFISEI0NBZ BRE-HERERKRS]
—RBpe

RERBEFRG

RAFRIR2024F8821H (BHA=) B1TRE
BERNG AHRRBFAEESKBRRN
BEREBBEGEM EHRAFRENT T
EREFETRRE-



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ESERE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from 16 August 2024 to 20 August 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of
the Company will be registered. Shareholders are reminded to
ensure that all completed share transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 15 August
2024.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 March
2024 has been audited by Mazars CPA Limited, who shall retire at
the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for
re-appointment.

By order of the Board
SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

LAW Ming Yik
Chairman
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Law Ming Yik (Z855%) (“"Mr. Law"), aged 36, is the
executive Director, Chairman, compliance officer, chairman of the
Nomination Committee, member of the Remuneration Committee
and the director of Wing Ko and Forever Treasure Holdings Limited,
being the Group’s subsidiaries. He is responsible for overseeing
all aspects of the Group’s operations, strategic planning and
formulation of corporate policies. He was appointed as the Director
on 31 October 2017 and was re-designated as an executive
Director on 24 November 2017. Mr. Law is the cousin of Mr. Li
Isaiah, one of the executive Directors.

Mr. Law has over 14 years of experience in the sale and transport of
diesel oil and related products. Mr. Law joined Wing Ko in July 2006
and was appointed as the director of Wing Ko in March 2012. He
was responsible for overseeing Wing Ko's daily operation, including
but not limited to maintaining stable relationship with the Group’s
key customers and the Group’s key suppliers, which are mainly
authorised agent(s) appointed by the Oil Major(s), monitoring the
logistics of projects and managing its corporate accounting and
administrative matters. In 2012, the HKSAR Government started
implementing Euro V vehicle emission standards in phases with an
aim to reduce vehicle emission. Seeing the market potential for
products which would help lower the diesel exhaust emissions from
diesel engines, Mr. Law led the Group to expand the business into
the sale of diesel exhaust fluid as its ancillary product in April 2013.
The Directors believe that his insightful vision is instrumental to the
success of the Group.

Mr. Law obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Design majoring in interior
design from Raffles College of Design and Commerce in August
2009 and an Advanced Diploma in Interior Design in from Raffles
Design Institute in September 2009, in Shanghai, China.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Mr. Li Isaiah (=) (“Mr. Li”), aged 39, was appointed as
the Director and was redesignated as an executive Director on
24 November 2017. Mr. Isaiah Li is the cousin of Mr. Law, the
Controlling Shareholder and the executive Director.

Mr. Li joined the Group in September 2009 and is responsible
for the overall management of its business. He has more than
five years of experience in the area of business administration
and information technology (“IT"). Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Li worked as an IT support in the DBS Bank from July 2004
to December 2004. He had also been an IT support in the Audit
Commission (HKSAR) from January 2005 to June 2005. From
October 2005 to March 2006, he was also a training facilitator in
Bright Long Company, a company principally engaged in tutoring
primary school students. He had also been a sales representative
in Gennett International Limited, a company principally engaged
in sale of electronics, from April 2006 to September 2006. Mr. Li
worked as an IT & Administrative Officer in Million Travel Co., a
company principally engaged in management of carparks from
October 2006 to August 2009.

Mr. Li has obtained a Diploma in Computer Science in Chu Hai
College of Higher Education in July 2006.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fenn David (8121&), aged 43, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 7 March 2018. He is
responsible for supervising, providing independent advice to our
Board, serving as chairman of remuneration committee, and
member of audit committee for our Group.

Mr. Fenn has over 15 years of experience in the legal industry. He
was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 2005. Mr.
Fenn is currently the principal of David Fenn & Co., a solicitors’ firm
in Hong Kong. Mr. Fenn obtained his bachelor of laws degree with
honours from The University of Hong Kong in December 2002. He
was awarded a postgraduate certificate in laws from The University
of Hong Kong in June 2003. Mr. Fenn further obtained a master
of laws degree in banking and finance from University College
London, University of London in the United Kingdom in November
2006. Mr. Fenn has been appointed as a disciplinary panel member
of the HKICPA since February 2016. He was an adjudicator of the
Registration of Persons Tribunal of Hong Kong from November
2013 to November 2019, and a member of the Housing Appeal
Panel of Hong Kong from April 2017 to April 2021. Mr. Fenn has
been appointed as the chairman of the Building Appeal Tribunal
Panel of Hong Kong since December 2021. Mr. Fenn has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Bradaverse
Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (formerly known as Hong
Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited) (stock code: 1082), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 10
May 2018 (resigned on 20 January 2023).

Mr. Fenn is also the company secretary of Wai Chun Bio-Technology
Limited (stock code: 660) and Wai Chun Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1013) since 4 February 2022, both companies of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew (&EZ &) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 36,
was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 11
December 2018. Mr. Wong is a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Wong, aged 36, has over 13 years of experience in the financial
industry spanning across corporate finance advisory, capital market
transaction advisory and auditing. Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Business, specialised in Accounting, Banking and Finance
from Monash University, Melbourne, Australia in September 2011.
He has also been a member of the CPA Australia since January
2016, a member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants since December 2016, and a member of Chartered
Global Management Accountant since December 2016.

Mr. Wong was an auditor in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
from September 2011 to November 2013, an auditor in
PricewaterhouseCoopers from December 2013 to March 2017,
the assistant vice president in the investment banking division
of Zhongtai International Capital Limited from March 2017 to
December 2017 and the vice president in the investment banking
division of GF Capital (Hong Kong) Limited from December 2017
to June 2019. He is currently the vice president in the corporate
finance division and a responsible officer (Type 6 — advising on
corporate finance regulated activities) of Ample Capital Limited.
During his employment with Zhongtai International Capital Limited,
GF Capital (Hong Kong) Limited and Ample Capital Limited, Mr.
Wong executed a wide variety of capital markets and corporate
finance transactions, including initial public offerings, mergers
and acquisitions, equity fund raisings, structured finance and
compliance advisory. Mr. Wong has been an independent non-
executive director of Golden Power Group Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3919), since 29 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong has not held any directorships
in any listed companies in the past three years.
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Mr. Chan Ting Fung (BRZE¥) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 40, was
appointed as the independent non-executive Director, a member of
each of the audit committee and remuneration committee of the
Company with effect from 1 September 2022. Mr. Chan obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Law from the Jinan University of Guangzhou
in 2007. He has been working in the legal field for more than 15
years, with extensive experience in handling commercial matters
in the mainland China, including merger and acquisition, joint
ventures, finance, logistics, international trade, intellectual property,
real estate and construction, employment, investment and cross-
border dispute resolution.

Mr. Chan has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Kingkey Financial International (Holding) Limited (stock
code: 1468), a company whose shares are listed on Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, since July 2022.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFORERERERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Law Sung Fai (= 1%) ("Mr. S.F. Law"), aged 51, is our
chief operating officer and is responsible for overseeing the daily
operation of the Group.

Mr. S.F. Law has joined the Group since July 2006. Mr. S.F. Law
has over 21 years of experience in the business of sale and
transportation of diesel oil. Prior to joining the Group, from May
1999 to May 2006, Mr. S.F. Law was the manager of Centre
Transportation Co., a company principally engaging in the business
of transportation of diesel oil, and was responsible for managing,
repairing and maintaining its fleet of tank wagons and its business
operations.

Ms. Mo Yan Ting ((EE ) (“Ms. Mo"), aged 55, is the Group
chief financial officer and is responsible for the general financial
management of the Group. Ms. Mo has joined the Group since
October 2017.

Ms. Mo obtained a Diploma in Business from the Auckland
University of Technology in October 2000. She subsequently
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business in Accounting also
in Auckland University of Technology in April 2003. Ms. Mo
completed the graduate conversion course in accounting in the
Sydney University of Technology in December 2006. Since January
2007, she has been a member of the CPA Australia.

Ms. Mo has over 22 years of experience in the accounting industry,
especially with presence in Australia. From May 1997 to February
2003, she worked in Westpac Bank New Zealand in Auckland and
her last position was an accountant assistant. From April 2003
to June 2005, she was an accountant at Longway Industrial &
Development Pty Ltd in Sydney. She then worked as an accountant
in Western Union Financial Services (Australia) Pty Ltd in Sydney
from June 2005 to June 2007. Later, she moved her accounting
practice back to Hong Kong. From August 2007 to March 2013,
she was an accountant manager at Greatsino International (HK) Ltd.
From April 2013 to August 2017, she was an accountant manager
at O’Laughlin Corporation Ltd in Hong Kong.
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EFEREHREBRERE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Cheuk Wai G2{£) ("Mr. Leung”), aged 40, was
appointed as the company secretary of the Group on 24 November
2017.

Prior to his appointment with the Group, Mr. Leung has
accumulated over 12 years of experience in the accounting, audit,
tax and company secretary fields. In June 2007, he joined FTW &
Partners CPA Limited, an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as an
accountant trainee. In August 2008, Mr. Leung served in Pearson
Fearn & Co., an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as their senior
accountant. In August 2013, Mr. Leung joined AE Majoris CPA
& Co, an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as their audit principal
and was promoted to audit partner in March 2016 and AE
Majoris Advisory Limited, a firm principally engaged in provision
of corporate advisory services, and his last position was senior
manager. In July 2017, Mr. Leung joined Alchemist Corporate
Advisory Limited, a company engaged in provision of corporate
advisory services, and was appointed as the executive director.

Mr. Leung obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
in Accounting from the Open University of Hong Kong in December
2007 and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since May 2012.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Law is an executive Director and the compliance officer of the

Company. His biographical details and qualification are set out on
page 128 of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIZHEES

forvss
mazars

To the members of
Sun Kong Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sun Kong
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 141 to 223, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIZHEES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

ST EER

FREBASEZRERMANEEAE  BLY
FABGREMBREANETRAEENERE-
ZEFHERERMBAERGEMHTRER
HASRRETEEN -RATSHREFFE
REBEBHER-

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

The key audit matter
FEEER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANVESHMARERRBENSFE

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade receivables

B G EWIBERRIE BE51R (TFEAFIE BRT1R)) BIRTIR % 1H

Refer to Notes 2, 16 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

FEEGESRIBSIRAN 2~ 16528 °

At 31 March 2024, the net carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$37,926,000
(2023: HK$45,901,000), which approximated 75%
(2023: 79%) of the Group's total assets. Loss allowance
for trade receivables was approximately HK$18,783,000
(2023: HK$10,610,000).

0202453831 H BEZRUMEBEBREFELY
37,926,000 7T (20234 : 45,901,000 7T) » HK
% BEEEEMEENTS% (2023F 1 79%) -85
FEWGRIE R 5 1818 %140 7318,783,00078 7T (20234F
10,610,000 7T) °

Management assessed the provision for ECL of trade
receivables based on the historical default rate, and is
adjusted for forward-looking estimates, such as expected
significant changes in general economic environment
and the business operation of the Group.
EEBANELEOXTEE ZRERIENTRRE
EEEZEE WA BT (BB EEIRER
R EEEEHSENTRAEAEE) (FHFAE-
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Our key audit procedures included:

HZPNETEEAEFERE

e understanding, through enquiry with the
management, the established policies and
procedures on credit risk management of trade
receivables;

e HBEEENTHRESRKFNEBEERRER
ZHEBRKEER ;

e obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
design, and determining the implementation
of controls with respect to the identification of
receivables with overdue or default payments;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIZHEES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
RSBt FIRE

MEETEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB MAERIERREENSEE

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade receivables

B GBI HIERRISE R R (TFERIIS BRTHR)) BIRS1RHE

Refer to Notes 2, 16 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRI IR MAE2 ~ 16K28 °

We have identified the above matter as a key audit
matter due to the significance of trade receivables
to the Group’s consolidated financial position and
the application of significant judgements by the
management over assessing the credit standing of the
Group'’s customers and therefore the estimation of ECL
of trade receivables.

BMER L EEREAMESRTEE HEREZME
WRIEY BSEENGEMERAMESEEREE
BERE E£EEXFNEARIKEILEGEE
SEWGFIEZ TRERE B8R A E A -

assessing management’s judgement over the ECL
and creditworthiness of the customers by assessing
the available information, such as background
information of the customers, past settlement
records of the customers, concentration risk of
customers, the Group's actual loss experience, latest
economic environment and subsequent settlement
of the trade receivables; and

BTG EENER IERFRERER
BEEECR - FERANEREKE SEENE
BREBLR  RCERIERE ZRIGRIENE
BEEZ M EEENEREEEBRERE
BrHE; &

checking the ageing profile of the trade receivables
at the end of reporting period and the post year-
end subsequent settlements from customers, on a
sample basis, to underlying accounting records and
supporting documents.

B AR g st A HMEE R EH
RKEZBUWHRIENREBFEIURERNERS
BHNBEEFEIE R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIZHEES

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the 2024 annual report of the Company but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIZHEES

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law and
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 June 2024

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Lam Ka Ki

Practising Certificate number: P08258
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SMEERENWER

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income

Administrative and other operating

expenses

Impairment loss on trade and
other receivables

Finance costs

Loss before tax

Income tax expense

Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year

Loss per share
Basic

Diluted

Wi i
HE R

EF
HAUA

TEREMEER>

E 5 R EMEWRRIER

HERER
R E Bl A

PRIRAIES IR
PRISHRFSZ

FEBRREEGRETE

BREE
B

Notes

Mzt

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$°000
F#ET FET
69,032 67,722
(63,578) (64,449)
5,454 3,273
260 591
(7,569) (9,032)
(8,173) (6,456)
(634) (442)
(10,662) (12,066)
(10,662) (12,066)
HK cents HK cents
(Adjusted)
N B
(A% FE %)
(26.66) (30.17)
(26.66) (30.17)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FAMBRRAR

At 31 March 2024 j$20244F3431H

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL")

Deposit paid for acquisition of
intangible assets

Current assets

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables
Bank overdrafts
Bank borrowings

Net current assets

NET ASSETS

IERBEE

L ENNYSE g

BYEE

EBBEmE A FEFE
(MEBEmEATE
R NERMEE

B ETLEEF MRS

MEBEE

8 5 IR
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IRTTAE R IR
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Notes

=3

12

20
18
21

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
2,262 4,721
5,204 -
1,844 1,737

= 3,517

9,310 9,975
37,926 45,901
2,953 1,980

46 376
40,925 48,257
1,686 2,239
7,129 3,850
4,585 4,255
7,539 7,930
20,939 18,274
19,986 29,983
29,296 39,958




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FAaMBRRR

At 31 March 2024 j$20244F3431H

Capital and reserves BARKE#E
Share capital &N
Reserves (B
TOTAL EQUITY AR

These consolidated financial statements on pages 141 to 223 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27
June 2024 and signed on its behalf by

LAW Ming Yik
Bz
Director

EF

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
baE F#ET FET
23 4,000 4,000
25,296 35,958
29,296 39,958
HNBIMNE223ENZERETHBERERER
20246 B27THEESEE G ERIRETEE I
HTESAERS

LI Isaiah

RS

Director

EXE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FARHEZHR

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

At 1 April 2022

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2023

At 1 April 2023

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2024

2022418

FEREREERREE

1R2023%3A31H

1%2023%4R1R

FERRRE2EHRER

1%2024%3A31H

Reserve
i
Share Share Capital Accumulated
capital premium reserve  profits (loss) Total Total
it
BEx  ROEE  ELHE BN R st st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note 23)  (Note 24(a))  (Note 24(b))
Ws223)  (WE246)  (W240)
4,000 44,810 10 3,204 48,024 52,024
- - - (12,066) (12,066) (12,066)
4,000 44,810 10 (8,862) 35,958 39,958
4,000 44,810 10 (8,862) 35,958 39,958
- - - (10,662) (10,662) (10,662)
4,000 44,810 10 (19,524) 25,296 29,296
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HMEBHERER

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z20244F3/531H IFFZ

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and amortisation of
intangible assets

Finance costs

(Gain) loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Fair value gain on financial assets
at FVPL

Impairment loss on trade and other
receivables

Changes in working capital:
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Trade payables
Other payables

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Net cash from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of intangible assets

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Notes

Mzt

REES

BRI RIE 18

ERESENE

BB RRFEITE
LU ST B B 5

L AR AN
HEME -BERKEZ
(W=) K518
FRBmiR AT EFEN
ETMBEEATFERTD
B 5 REMEWFIERN
BEEE
EEETEY
B 5 eI EIE
Hfh fEWRIE
B EIE
H i &S FRIB

KEPRSHRE
BENFE

MEERSRSRERE

REEH
BEETEE 25(b)
HEYE BB Kk

PRSI

Net cash used in investing activities X E ESFTRIREFEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(10,662) (12,066)
= 260

2,547 2,588
634 442
(50) 23
(107) (23)
8,173 6,456
(198) 6,907
(973) (1,351)
(553) (3,093)
2,279 373
1,090 516
(634) (437)
456 79
(775) (3,517)

50 450
(725) (3,067)

BRI ARAT 20232024 R 145



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERERER

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Inception of bank borrowings

Repayment of principal amount of
bank borrowings

Repayment of lease liabilities

Net cash (used in) from financing
activities

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the

Notes

=3

MEEE
WMEERTHEN
BERITENEEZE

REEE (FTA) FRSRE
FER 25(a)

ReERBFEFEWRALD
FER

REHIRERESE

beginning of the reporting period = {ZY

Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the reporting period

Analysis of the balances of
cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash

Bank overdrafts

BEHARREERRE

EEM

RERREEFEMH

BRI
IRTTAERR RIS
RTTEX

18
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2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
= 3,000

(391) (789)

= (304)

(391) 1,907
(660) (1,081)
(3,879) (2,798)
(4,539) (3,879)
46 376
(4,585) (4,255)
(4,539) (3,879)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Sun Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands on 31 October 2017 under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business is situated at Section C of Lot No. 1345 in D.D121,
Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the Company together with its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
are principally engaged in sales of diesel oil and related
products in Hong Kong. Details of the subsidiaries are set out
in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
and ultimate holding company is Fully Fort Group Limited,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").
The ultimate controlling party is Mr. Law Ming Yik.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA")
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure requirements under
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing
Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest
thousand, unless otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

2.

148

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Going concern

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that
the Group recorded a consolidated loss before income
tax of approximately HK$10,662,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024. In addition, at 31 March 2024, the Group’s
current liabilities of approximately HK$20,939,000 include
trade payables of approximately HK$1,686,000, other
payables of approximately HK$4,065,000, bank overdrafts
of approximately HK$4,585,000 and (ignoring any on-
demand repayment clause) bank borrowings of approximately
HK$716,000 which are due for repayment within the next
twelve months after 31 March 2024. However, the Group only
had bank balances and cash of approximately HK$46,000. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and to meet its financial obligations for at least the next twelve
months from the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, after taking into consideration of the followings:

(i) the Group has implemented measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding trade receivables;

(i) the Group has successfully applied the extension for
the repayment of loan principal from September 2023
to August 2024 and the Group has been continuously
negotiating with creditors and lenders for renewal and
extension of borrowings which are repayable during the
year ending 31 March 2025;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

the Group will actively negotiate with various financial
institutions and potential lenders to secure new financing
arrangement to meet the Group’s working capital and
financial requirements in the near future; and

Mr. Law Ming Yik, the director and shareholder of the
Company has confirmed that he will provide continuous
financial support to the Group to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for a period
of twelve months from the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements. Subsequent to the
end of the reporting period, Mr. Law has provided a loan
of HK$3,000,000 to the Company and he has obtained
a stand-by facility amount of HK$8,000,000 to the
Company, under Mr. Law's personal guarantee.

Having regard to the cash flow projection of the Group,

which are prepared assuming that the above measures are

successful, the directors of the Company are of the opinion

that, in the light of the measures taken to-date, together

with the expected results of the other measures in progress,

the Group will have sufficient funding resources to satisfy its

future working capital and other financing requirements. The

directors of the Company believe that the aforementioned

measures will be successful, based on the continuous efforts

put by the management of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

150

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared

on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted

in the 2023 consolidated financial statements, except for the

adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the

Group and effective from the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar

Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1: Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The amendments require companies to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies.

The amendments have no effect on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the consolidated
financial statements. Management has reviewed the disclosure
of accounting policy information and considered it is
consistent with the amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z20244F3/531H IFFZ

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8: Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments clarify how companies should distinguish
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting
estimates.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on recognition, give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12: International Tax Reform-
Pillar Two Model Rules

The amendments provide entities with temporary relief from
accounting for deferred taxes arising from the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development’s Pillar Two model
rules. The Amendments also introduce targeted disclosure
requirements to help investors understand an entity’s exposure
to income taxes arising from the rules.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group in preparing the consolidated financial statements is set
out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

2.

152

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except
for financial assets at FVPL, which is stated at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting year as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses
and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced to
its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher
than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on which
they are available for use and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method.
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Leasehold improvements 5 years/over the unexpired
term of lease, whichever is

shorter
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the year in
which the item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

2.

154

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

Information technology systems

The useful lives of Information technology systems are
assessed to be definite. Information technology systems with
finite life is subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life of 5 years and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the Information technology systems may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for Information technology systems with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) the Group transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not
retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z20244F3/531H IFFZ

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are
initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (i) debt investment measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income; (iii)
equity investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income; or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent
to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its
business model for managing them, in which case all affected
financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first
annual reporting period, where appropriate, following the
change in the business model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

2.

156

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both
of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVPL:

(i) itis held within a business model whose objective is to
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment,
derecognition or through the amortisation process are
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade
and other receivables and bank balances and cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not
measured at amortised cost or financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, including financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, financial assets resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets
that are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They
are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
recognised in profit or loss, which includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or interest
income is presented separately from fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near
term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence
of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on
initial recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or
not a designated and effective hedging instrument.
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2.

158

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.
The Group's financial assets measured at FVPL include unlisted
investment in key management insurance contracts.
Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the

liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, bank overdrafts and bank borrowings. All financial
liabilities, are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost to which the impairment requirements apply in
accordance with HKFRS 9. At each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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160

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or
more shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument'’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of
the financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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2.

162

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In particular, the following information is
taken into account in the assessment:

e  actual or expected significant adverse changes in external
credit rating of the debtors;

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligations;

e actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and/or

e significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtor, including changes in the
payment status of the debtors in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the debtors.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
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164

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Low crediit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the debtor to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

As detailed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, bank balances and cash are determined to have
low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #F202443/531H I E/Z
2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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2.

166

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has
no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery
is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
net of bank overdrafts.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services
The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is

sales of diesel oil, steam coal and related products in Hong
Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identify
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to
the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or
service is distinct within the context of the contract).
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2.

168

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced; or

() the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In
determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group
considers the concept of control and such indicators as
legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer
acceptance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

Sales of diesel oil, steam coal and related products are
recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains the
control of the promised asset, which generally coincides with
the time when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title is passed.

Ancillary transportation service income is recognised over time
when services are rendered.

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided
the outcome of the performance obligation can be reasonably
measured, the Group applies the output method (i.e. based on
the direct measurements of the value to the customer of the
goods or services transferred to date relative to the remaining
goods or services promised under the contract) to measure the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation because the method provides a faithful depiction of
the Group'’s performance and reliable information is available
to the Group to apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until such
time that it can reasonably measure the outcome of the
performance obligation.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credited-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-
impaired financial assets.
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2.

170

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements is presented in the currency of HK$, which is also
the functional currency of the Company, and rounded to the
nearest thousands unless otherwise indicated.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to determine
whether there is any indication that property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and the Company’s investments
in subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may be reduced. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated, based on the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group of
assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-
generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

2.

172

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z20244F3/531H IFFZ

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When a
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where a
grant relates to an asset, the Group recognised in full as other
income to profit or loss in the year of grant if the amount
is immaterial instead of recognised as a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset and released to profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments. The directors of the Company considered
that the effect of the recognised amount to profit or loss over
the expected useful life is immaterial.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave the scheme prior the contributions
are vested fully in those employees. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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174

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Long service payments

The Group's net obligation in respect of long service payments
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amounts
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for
their services in the current and prior periods. The obligation
is calculated using the projected unit credit method and
discounted to its present value and after deducting the fair
value of any related assets, including those retirement scheme
benefits.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the year as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
goodwill, or other asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
is not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. FEGHEK &

Taxation (Continued)

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investment in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the
Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of the holding company of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z20244F3/531H IFFZ

2.

176

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such
a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding
company of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is

a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or of the holding company of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
Group's most senior executive management for the purpose of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

178

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group's accounting policies, reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis
and are based on experience and relevant factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Depreciation and amortisation

The Group depreciates property, plant and equipment and
amortises intangible assets on the straight-line basis over the
respective estimated useful lives as set out above, with the
depreciation and amortisation charge commencing from the
date an item of the property, plant and equipment and the
intangible assets is available for use. The estimated useful life
reflects the management’s estimate of the periods that the
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the use
of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z20244F3/531H IFFZ

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. XE®

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

The management of the Group determines whether the
Group's property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
are impaired when an indication of impairment exists. This
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, which is
equal to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. Estimating the value in use requires the management
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Any impairment will be
charged to profit or loss.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables by using various inputs and assumptions
including but not limited to risk of default. The estimation
involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the
Group's historical information, existing market conditions as
well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of trade receivables. Details of the key assumption and
inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

2.

180

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorising these consolidated financial

statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised

HKFRSs that are not yet effective for current year, which the

Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants ’

HK Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause ’

Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements ’

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback '
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 2
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture ?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 The effective date to be determined
The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the new/

revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any material impact
on the results of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

The directors of the Company have determined that the Group
has only one operating and reportable segment throughout
the year, as the Group manages its business as a whole which
is the sales of diesel oi and related products in Hong Kong.
The sales of diesel oil and related products services include
sourcing diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid through oil trading
companies, dispatching the fleet of diesel tank wagons of
the Group to collect diesel oil from oil depots designated by
the suppliers of the Group, and eventually delivering diesel
oil to destinations designated by the customers of the Group.
The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision-makers of the Group, regularly review the
internal financial reports on the same basis for the purposes of
allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal place of the Group’s operation is in Hong Kong. All of
the Group’s revenue from external customers during the year
is derived from Hong Kong and all of the Group’s assets and
liabilities are located in Hong Kong.

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. aHEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

3.

182

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about major customers
Revenue from customers individually contributing 10% or

more of the total revenue of the Group during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Customer A ZRA
Customer B ZFB
Customer C ZRAC
Note:

These customers contributed less than 10% of revenue of the Group for
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

4. REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with
customers within HKFRS 15

Recognised at a point in time
Sales of diesel oil

Sales of diesel exhaust fluid

Recognised over time

Ancillary transportation service

4. W=
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
ERMBIREERNFE 155
HEANER SRS
A E B BRI Bh R
Lo E 2R 67,619 65,990
ERARXRHELE 1,131 1,639
68,750 67,629
FiE BF R R AR
FEEB B ARTS 282 93
69,032 67,722
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

5.

184

OTHER INCOME

Fair value gain on financial assets at FVPL B3B8 12N T EFT 2/
ETHEELATERG
HEME - -BRERZE

Gain on disposal of property, plant and

equipment, net 2 Wess o EE

Government grants (Note) B #EEh (BYat)
Sundry income FEIBUA

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had received funding
support from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic
Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government. The purpose of the funding
is to provide financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who
would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the
Group required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and

to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has received ex-gratia
payment from the Ex-gratia Payment Scheme, set up by the Hong Kong
Government. The purpose of the funding is to provide financial support
to registered owners of diesel commercial vehicles to phasing out Euro IV
Diesel Commercial Vehicles to continuously improve roadside air quality.
Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required to arrange for their
vehicles to be scrapped and de-registered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

6.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging:

Finance costs

Interest on bank overdrafts
Interest on bank borrowings
Interest on lease liabilities

Staff costs

(including directors’ emoluments)

Salaries and other benefits
Contributions to defined contribution
schemes

Other items
Auditor’s remuneration
Audit services
Non audit services
Cost of inventories
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment:
Cost of sales
Administrative and other
operating expenses
Depreciation of right-of-use assets:
Administrative and other operating
expenses
Amortisation of intangible assets:
Administrative and other operating
expenses
Expenses relating to short-term leases

6. FRIRAIESIA

ME M

RITEXF B
IRTTERF R
HE&EMNE

STHE (BEESEMHE)

e S H M E R
SRE AR E B 2 K

HMIER
2 Gkl
BESTIRTS
JEESHARTS
FEMA
BB R EITE

IHE R A
THEREMEERX

ERESENTE -
THEREMEER%

BICEE#N -
THEREMEER%

FEHATE EAERIR X

* At 31 March 2024, the Group was committed to HK$114,000

(2023: HK$Nil) for short-term leases.

> 4

HETH AR T A TRE
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET TET
361 237
273 200
- 5
634 442
4,353 6,576
168 223
4,521 6,799
450 450
385 195
59,765 59,940
2,456 2,470
3 118
- 260
88 -
427* 52*

122024F3H831H  AEBEFLIEHE S AL

114,000 7T (20234 : EHT) ©

BRI AR AT 2023/2024 3 185



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EAMBBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z20244F3/531H IFFZ
7. TAXATION 7.
For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s

entities established in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI") are exempted from income tax.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong
Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group incurred a loss
for taxation purposes.

Reconciliation of income tax expense

Loss before tax PRI ARS8

Income tax at applicable tax rate HEBREFENRER
Non-deductible expenses RENBRAV B2

Tax exempt revenue RiR U

Unrecognised tax losses ERERY Y =
Unrecognised temporary difference REERGREERR
Income tax expense for the year FAMERES
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HE2024F KZ2023FE3R31HIEFEE » 1
HEMNEMRRBEREE (HBR L
E)) RIS ERSRERERCEGTRE

ﬁo

B E20245F K%2023F3A31HIEFE » H
RAEBEEREGE R EES S

GBS
FriSR Rz IR
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(10,662) (12,066)
(1,759) (1,991)
75 65
- (90)
336 951
1,348 1,065




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z20244F3/531H IFFZ

8. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND EMPLOYEES’ 8.

REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and
receivable by the directors and chief executive of the
Company during the years ended 31 March 2024 and

2023 are set out below.

Year ended 31 March 2024

EE -maf

() EFk&

BT A BBFM

THA & KBS B &M

B E2024F %2023%F3831HIEE
B AR EEARESTHRAEER
K FEW S BN AR BB Z A0 T o

HE2024F3831HILEE

Contributions
to defined

Directors’  Salaries and Discretionary contribution
fees  allowances bonus plans Total
REMR
EEE HEREM FETEL Bz Bt
HK$'000 HKS$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FAET FAET FET FET FAT
Executive directors RiTEZR
Mr. Law Ming Yik BAERE - 925 - 18 943
Mr. Li lsaiah FRELE - 438 - 18 456
Independent non-executive BIFRITESR
directors
Mr. Fenn David BERERE 9% - - 5 101
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew BRERE 9% - - 5 101
Mr. Chan Ting Fung (Note i) BRERLE W) 9% - - 5 101
288 1,363 - 51 1,702
BBIERREIRAT 2023/2024 3k 187




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

8. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES' 8. EE - -RETHAERESMNEHM

REMUNERATION (Continued) (&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration (a) EERBRETBRASNGM @)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 EF2023F3831BILFE
Contributions
to defined
Directors’  Salariesand  Discretionary  contribution
fees allowances bonus plans Total
REMD
BXHe  HeRoRl WIBTEAL  HEZMHER st

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T TAT TET THET

Executive directors HTESE
Mr. Law Ming Yik BAERE - 1,560 - 18 1,578
Mr. Li lsaiah ERHELE - 650 - 18 668
Independent non-executive BUEHTESR
directors
Mr. Fenn David LERRE 91 - - 5 %
Mr. Ho Cheung Kong (Note j) ARIGEE W) 38 - - 2 40
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew BRELE 91 - - 5 %
Mr. Chan Ting Fung (Note i) BREIETE W) 53 - - 3 56
273 2,210 - 51 2,534
During the year ended 31 March 2024, no emoluments BZE2024F3R31HLLEE  AER
were paid by the Group to any of these directors as BEEErAZEESZMERME
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or ERMAXREBRNEIMARERE
as a compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil). There WRB N IEABTME (20234
was no arrangement under which a director waived or ) c B E2024F3831HIEEE T
agreed to waive any remuneration for the year ended BREENENRBEREETMAFMN
31 March 2024 (2023: Nil). 2k (2023 © #7) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

8. DIRECTORS'’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)  Mr. Ho Cheung Kong resigned as independent non-executive
director on 1 September 2022.

(i)~ Mr. Chan Ting Fung was appointed as independent non-

executive director on 1 September 2022.

Employees’ remuneration

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

Director £=
Non-director JEE=S

8. EF -mReTHABRESNZMN

(#)

() EFREEITHRASNHM (@

Mzt -

() AIEIKLEBCHR2022F98 18 BEE
IIEHITES -

(i) PREBREEN2022F981HEZER
BIIFHITES-

(b) ESBIFTEN

B E2024F %2023F3831H 1L
B ELESHMA NSO T

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
20245 20234
2
5 5

BRI ARAT 2023/2024 3 189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

8. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES" 8.
REMUNERATION (Continued)

EF meTHABRESHFMH

(#)

(b) EERFHM &)

(b) Employees’ remuneration (Continued)

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid
non-director individuals are as follows:

LtitESHMIFES AT

BOT

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FAET

Salaries and allowances and MR REYH @
benefits in kind 1,236 1,645

Contributions to defined REMNETE ZHRR

contribution plans 52 54
1,288 1,699

The number of these non-director individuals whose
emoluments fell within the following emoluments band is
as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000 70

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no remuneration
was paid by the Group to any of these highest paid non-
director individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office
(2023: Nil). There was no arrangement under which any
of these highest paid non-director individuals waived or
has agreed to waive any emoluments for the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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MEBRUTMERENZSIFE
EATHAHENT :

2024 2023
20245 20234
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B E2024F3831HIEEFE  AEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

9. DIVIDENDS 9. KRR
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the HE2024F %2023F3831HIEFE &
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. REERNHEIREMARE -

10. LOSS PER SHARE 10. BiREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the SREABEEILZUTEIERE !

following data:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Loss 58
Loss for the purpose of calculating basic s+ E &R EREEEE
loss per share 10,662 12,066
2024 2023
(Adjusted)
20244 20234
AEHE )
Number of shares K& B
Weighted average number of ordinary st EEREARK#EEIE
shares, for the purpose of calculating B 38 R I AE 19 8L
basic and diluted loss per share 40,000,000 40,000,000
The number of shares for the year ended 31 March 2023 has HE2023F3A31BHIEFEFENRHEBER
been adjusted and restated to reflect the share consolidation KRABREBIURBRE S FRRMTEE
during the year ended 31 March 2024 as set out in Note 23 to 23FTEEIE2024F3831H IEFENRKMD
the consolidated financial statements. affe
Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share as HNE E2024F K%2023F3831HIEFEE
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding BMEZBTEINBEEREEER WER
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. S EAEKRELRGBRES-

BRBIEIR AR AT 2023/2024 % 191
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EAMBBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

11. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are

as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

Name of subsidiary establishment

AL,
)= YNCIEZE Bl 3L 3t 2h
Directly held by the Company
K’ATERERE
Forever Treasure Holdings Limited BVI
KEERBRAR HERLEE
Winner Group Worldwide Limited BVI
Winner Group Worldwide Limited EEBREYEHE
Ever Star Industrial Limited BVI
Ever Star Industrial Limited EBRUEE
Indirectly held by the Company
FARMERE
Wing Ko Petroleum Chemistry Hong Kong
(China-Hong Kong) Limited
("Wing Ko")
KxeaBEI (F8) BRAR (kE) &8
Joyous Treasure Group Limited Hong Kong
Joyous Treasure Group Limited 54
Wing Ho International Development Hong Kong
Limited
Wing Ho International Development g
Limited

192

Date of
incorporation/

establishment
MR,
I BHA

14 November 2017

20174118148
8 April 2019

2019%4H8H
3 June 2019

201946 H3H

18 December 2002

20024 12H18H
10 April 2019
2019548108

4 June 2019

201956541
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1. B AT

RE|BEHARZMBABFBEHEIIMT ¢

Attributable
Particulars of equity interest
paid up capital/ held by the
registered capital Company
BrREx/ P VNGIEEE=T: )
HEMERFEE P 1 e 18
United States Dollar 100%

("Us$")10

(ST 100%
us$10 100%
107 100%
us$10 100%
107 100%
HK$10,000 100%
10,0007 7T 100%
HK$100 100%
1007 7T 100%
HK$100 100%
1007 7T 100%

Principal activities/
place of operation
TEEE
SEME

Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REER, /&5
Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REER, /&5
Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REER, /&5

Sales of diesel oil
and related products/
Hong Kong
LM AE R E Y
HE/BE

Inactive

TG

Inactive

EET



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. Y% -BERRE

Leasehold  Furniture and Office Motor
improvements fixtures equipment vehicles Total
HERE HGAREE UIYNY HE @zt
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FET FET
Reconciliation of carrying amount - BRI {EHIEHBR—
year ended 31 March 2023 HF2023F3A310ILFE
At the beginning of the reporting period FA ¥R 53 #] 33 14 15 7,720 7,782
Disposal HE - - - (473) 473)
Depreciation e (33) (14) (10) (2,531) (2,588)
At 31 March 2023 12023%3631H - - 5 4716 4,721
Reconciliation of carrying amount - BRI {EHI$HER—
year ended 31 March 2024 HE2024F3A3101LFE
At the beginning of the reporting period 3R H3 4] - - 5 4,716 4,721
Depreciation nE - - (3) (2,456) (2,459)
At 31 March 2024 1$20245%3H31H - - 2 2,260 2,262
At 31 March 2023 22023538310
Cost S 27 193 344 18,769 19,578
Accumulated depreciation REHNE (272) (193) (339) (14,053) (14,857)
- - 5 4716 4,721
At 31 March 2024 1£20245%3H31H
Cost A 20 193 344 18,429 19,238
Accumulated depreciation RetirE (272) (193) (342) (16,169) (16,976)
- - 2 2,260 2,262
HBEIRAMRAT 2023/2024 5% 193




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. BEEEE
Information
technology
systems
BB RS
HK$'000
FAET

Reconciliation of carrying amount — FREENHR—

year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE2023F3831HIEFE
At the beginning and at the end of the N ERINSEEES

reporting period -
Reconciliation of carrying amount - IREENHIR—

year ended 31 March 2024 B =202453H31HLFE
At the beginning of the reporting period RERSHHD =
Additions NE 5,292
Amortisation i (88)
At the end of the reporting period HREREHER 5,204
At 31 March 2023 F12023%3H31H
Cost D% -
Accumulated amortisation Rotie -
Net carrying amount REVEE -
At 31 March 2024 $22024%3H31H
Cost A A 5,292
Accumulated amortisation Heti#is (88)
Net carrying amount RERE 5,204




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z20244F3/531H IFFZ

13.

14.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The information technology systems included in intangible
assets were acquired from third party vendor. The information
technology systems were fully operational and ready for use in
March 2024.

Information technology systems has a validity of 5 years and
the Group has determined that this asset has a useful life
of 5 years. It is tested for impairment where an indicator of
impairment appears.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 14.
Unlisted investment JFEMEKE—
- key management insurance contracts FEEIEEBREEL

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Wing Ko, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a life insurance
policy with an insurance company, an independent third party
not related to the Group, on Mr. Li Isaiah, the Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Director of the Company. Under the
policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is Wing Ko. Wing Ko is
required to pay an upfront payment of HK$1,956,000 for the
policy. Wing Ko may request partial surrender or full surrender
of the policy at any time and receive cash back based on the
value of the policy at the date of withdrawal, which is primarily
based on the performance of the underlying investment
portfolio together with the accumulated guaranteed interest
earned of 2.5% per annum for the first two policy years.

13.

BREE (@

STABEEENEARERFAIIBEEZ
FHEEERBE- %Z%iééﬂwi%,mé
2024F38 2mEITHMER AR o

BRI ARNERPASE  FEEE
BEZBEENRERFHAF - NMRH
RREDSR > BE HETRER -

BREDRATEMAENTHEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
1,844 1,737

REZE202263831HEEE AR T2
B B A Bk = B — 5 A & [ T A R
BMONBIFE =S REABMAEQT T
MERHITEEZRMEAESTIILASR
RE - REZRE TmARREFEA
E7—K|EJ°ﬂ<|ﬁ§§%§§'ﬁ$§iﬁ1,956,000
IR R o K= B BERF 2 KRB DR 1R
FEIRMFR URFERRZHNREEE
WEIRSIRE  HFBEPMEREKRERS
B9 2= 30 LUK B B 1R B F S B ER BV &5 F
2.5%MRFHRBFHE

BRBIEIREPRAT 2023/2024 % 195



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

14.

196

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL (Continued)

The movement of the key management insurance contracts is
analysed as follows:

14. FRBERRATEFAENERHNEE

&

TEEEERBEVNEDBE RO
o

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At the beginning of the year RER] 1,737 1,714
Fair value changes recognised in PEmPEIN AT EES

profit or loss 107 23

At the end of the year REXR 1,844 1,737

The fair value of the key management insurance contracts is
determined by reference to the surrender cash value of a life
insurance policy at the end of the reporting period together
with the guaranteed interest as mentioned above.

The Group’s financial assets at FVPL with a carrying value at
the end of the reporting period of HK$ 1,844,000 (2023: N/A)
were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group
(Note 26).
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TEEEEBREENNAFERZERS
HARASRBRENERFRRESEER LA

REBHEETE

AEBNRSHABRKRMEEA1,844,000
7T (2023%F  NERA) NEBEmZAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

15.

16.

DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

Deposits paid for acquisition
of intangible assets

During the year ended 31 March 2024, additional deposit
of HK$775,000 was paid for acquisition of intangible assets.
Upon completion and ready for use of the information
technology systems in March 2024, the aggregate balance of
HK$4,292,000 was transferred to intangible assets (note 13
and 25(b)).

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables & 5 WA
From third parties REE=A

R

Less: Loss allowance

All the trade receivables are expected to be recovered within
one year.

Information about the Group's exposure to credit risks and loss
allowance for trade receivables is included in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

15.

BB EEP IS

MBBELBEEMTRE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
- 3,517

REE2024F3831HILEE st EE
& EZ(TEEING$775,0008 7T il
B RF 202438 el R ] B » 45
FRARER4,292,0008 cEEBERTEE (I
55135225(b)) ©

16. ESEYRIE

2024 2023

20245 20234

Note HK$000 HK$'000
HiaE FHET FET
56,709 56,511
28 (18,783) (10,610)
37,926 45,901

TAHAFR A B 7 WK IER I —E AU o

ERAEREBRNEERRKEZEW
REEBEENENENGEaMBRER
PH5E28 0

BRI A RAT 2023/2024 R 197



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

17.

198

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Deposits &
Prepayments A IE
Other receivables HihEW=Ia
Less: Loss allowance o iR EE

All the other receivables are expected to be recovered within
one year, except for the deposits of approximately HK$39,000
(2023: approximately HK$38,000).

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss
allowance for other receivables is included in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

17(a) Included in the other receivables of approximately HK$79,000
(2023: approximately HK$65,000) is due from Fully Fort Group
Limited, the immediate and ultimate holding company of the
Company. The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.
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17. HEthpEYERIA

2024 2023
20245 20234

Note HK$°000 HK$'000
st FHET FET
667 666

2,335 1,367

17a 79 75
3,081 2,108

28 (128) (128)
2,953 1,980

TEHRFT B MW RIER RN —E R i E
M2 £ 4939,00078 7T (20234 © 938,000
BT) BRI o

ERAAEREBNEERR KEMEW
REFERBEENENENGESMBRE
MisE28 0

17(a) EfthFE U FRIE4979,00058 7T (20234 © &
65,0008 70) SIEEWAA B BiE R REE
BARZEEEBRABTNNIE - ZRES
IR Tt B R BREREE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND BANK

19.

OVERDRAFTS

Bank balances and cash

Bank overdrafts

As stated in the consolidated statement
of cash flows

Bank overdrafts bear interest at prevailing market rate of Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 4% per annum
(2023: 4% per annum). Details of the banking facilities are set

IRTTAERRIRE
IRITEX

iR EIREMERFTE

out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables
To third parties

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade

ERZ) SNES!
BN%E=7A

payables based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days

30KA

31E60K
61E90K

18. IRITHEBRRIREUKIRITES

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
46 376
(4,585) (4,255)
(4,539) (3,879)

. B ERRIE
2024
20244
HK$°000
FHET
1,686

IRITEZREBRITEERE ((FERT
B2 WIRTHIBHENERNZELI%
TR (2023%F © FF|5F4%) - BREARITRE
BENFBEHEN GRS EHRKRM 260

2023
20234
HK$°000
FAET

2,239

RIREIR MEZARZ27INE ZEN
TIARERE DT T

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
360 2,239

895 -

431 =
1,686 2,239

ERBIEIRARRAT 2023/2024 R 199



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

20.

21.

200

OTHER PAYABLES 20.
Accruals and other payables FESTE B R H M RRIE
Deposits received BlEE

Salaries payable AN

BANK BORROWINGS 21.

RET

— B

i
2

Term loans — Secured

The bank borrowings carry variable interest rates 2.5% per
annum below Hong Kong dollar prime rate (“Prime"”) (2023
2.5%) and are repayable in various monthly instalments up
to 24 October 2032 or 24 October 2033 (2023: 24 October
2029 or 24 October 2032).

The bank borrowings are drawn under banking facility.

Details of the banking facilities are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Hfth FE{HRRIE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$000 HK$ 000
FET TAET
4,059 2,094
6 6
3,064 1,750
7,129 3,850

IRITERR

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
7,539 7,930

RITERREREBELREBENE (TRE
BHZE]) 25%NFFEFIXEE (2023
F 1 2.5%) W7BR 20325108240 572033
F108248 (20234 © 2029410524 H 38
20327 10824H) gii B o RiEE -

IRITEMDIRBRITR BRI - BRARTT
RENFBHN GRS M BRRME26-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & Z20244F3/531H IFFZ

21. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 21. SRITEM @
Analysis of the amounts due based on scheduled payment RIFEERBEFIENTEEC I REE (BB
dates set out in the loan agreements (ignoring the effect of any ARBRERERGERNEE) NP
repayment on demand clause) is as follows: DT
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Carrying amounts of bank borrowings ~ FEEZIR{TENMIREE
that are repayable (Note) (%)
Within one year —FR 446 954
More than one year, but not exceeding ~—FE L £ BEXRBBHRE
two years 787 988
More than two years, but not exceeding BiBME B BBAE
five years 2,538 3,171
Over five years BBAF 3768 2817
7,539 7,930
Note: The bank borrowings contain a repayment on demand clause and Kzt IRITEREBRERERGED  WLH R
are shown under current liabilities. MENEEIE T
22. DEFERRED TAXATION 22, IRIEFRIE
The movement for the year in the Group’s deferred tax REBRFRIERIBEEENENEHUT !
liabilities was as follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
At the beginning of the year and RET K
the end of reporting period HREHAR - -
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22. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) RIEFRIA ()

Recognised deferred tax assets (liabilities) at the end of the RREPRERDNVELEREBEEE (88

reporting period represent the following: 25T -

Assets Liabilities
B5E af&E

2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20235 20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FAET
Depreciation allowance mERE — -~ (1,074) (555)
Tax losses RIEE1E 1,074 555 - -
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) EERIBE E (B1E) 1,074 555 (1,074) (555)
Offsetting A (1,074) (555) 1,074 555
Net deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEEIFER - -~ - -

202

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
tax losses and unrealised provision on impairment loss
on trade receivables of approximately HK$18,738,000
and HK$17,515,000 respectively (2023: approximately
HK$13,556,000 and HK$9,345,000 respectively). Deferred
tax assets have been recognised in respect of unused tax
losses of approximately HK$6,513,000 (2023: approximately
HK$3,365,000). No deferred tax assets have been recognised
in respect of the remaining unused tax losses and unrealised
provision on impairment loss on trade receivables of
approximately HK$15,591,000 and HK$17,515,000
respectively due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.
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18,738, ooo%m)i'm 515, 0007%71: (2023
F D FI#913,556,000% 77 59,345,000
Bor) - BERLARE A RIER1E#496,513,000
HBIT (20231F : #93,365,00078 ) WESRIE
JEMIBE E - IS R K iaF RN A A 78
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A MBBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

23. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
Ordinary shares
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023
and 1 April 2023
Share consolidation (Note 23a)

At 31 March 2024

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023
and 1 April 2023
Share consolidation (Note 23a)

At 31 March 2024

23(a) Pursuant to the resolution passed by the shareholders

23. Ig7
No. of shares HK$000
RpEE FET
ERE
=20
72022F481H ~20234F
3H31H &2023F481H 3,000,000,000 30,000
A &6t (HaE23a) (2,700,000,000) -
20245383 1H 300,000,000 30,000
BEITRERE
ZER
7202248 1H ~ 20234
3H31H &2023F4818 400,000,000 4,000
A &6t (HaE23a) (360,000,000) -
A20245%3H31H 40,000,000 4,000

of the Company on 15 February 2024, every ten issued

ordinary shares of par value of HKD0.01 each had been

consolidated into one ordinary share of HKDO.1 each.

The share consolidation became effective on 19 February

2024. All the shares issued by the Company ranked pari

passu in all respects.

23(a) IRIBEA A SRR FR2024F 28150 @

BHREZ S10REREEC.01E
THEETZEREEHAIRER
EEOIBTHNEBR BREAGHER
2024F 2B 190 £ o AR B E1THY
FMERMDEMBAFEHUZERS M

fie

BRI AR AR 2023/2024 3R 203



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

24. RESERVES

204

24(a) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company’s shares over its par
value. Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the
Company’s Articles of Association, it is distributable to the
Company's shareholders provided that the Company is
able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

24(b) Capital reserve

It represents the amount of the issued and paid-up share
capital of the entities now comprising the Group before
completion of the Group’s reorganisation to rationalise
the group structure for the listing of the Company less
consideration paid to acquire the relevant interests (if any)
upon completion of the reorganisation.
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24(a) B 175 1B
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MIBFHBHABEENED - RIEF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

25. OTHER CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The movements in the Group’s liabilities arising from

financing activities are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2024

Bank borrowings

Year ended 31 March 2023
Bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

(b) Non-cash transactions

HZE202453831HLEEE

BITEM

HF2023F3831HILLEE
IRITE™
HEas

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has
acquired intangible assets of HK$5,292,000, of which
HK$3,517,000 was paid as deposit during the year ended
31 March 2023 and HK$1,000,000 was unsettled as at
the end of the reporting period.

> 4

25. HthIREREER

(a)

MEEHREENEEHR

AEERMEIHFELENEEED

mr:
Non-cash
changes
FRELH
At 1 April Net Interest At 31 March
2023 cash flow expenses 2024
#2023 Rene 120245
4818 e GIEYEE 36318
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS$000 HKS'000
FHT FAET FET FAT
7,930 (391) - 7,539
Non-cash
changes
FREEEY
At 1 April Net Interest At 31 March
2022 cash flow expenses 2023
1220224 RERB8 122023
4818 FH MBRX 36318
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHT THT FET FHT
5,719 2,211 - 7,930
299 (304) 5 -
6,018 1,907 5 7,930
(b) FFRERH

REE2024F3831HILEEE » K&
BEWEEFEES,292,0008 7T
Hh3,517,0008c B R & £2023
FIANBLEFEEFRABRESZ TR
1,000,00078 T R S HAKR M R4 E o
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REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

26.

206

BANKING FACILITIES

Overdrafts B
Term loans TERE™

At 31 March 2024, the Group had banking facilities of
HK$14,000,000 (2023: HK$14,000,000) granted by a
financial institution in Hong Kong.

The banking facilities are secured by:
(i) A corporate guarantee provided by the Company;

(i) Assignment agreements in respect of insurance policy of
the Group’s financial assets FVPL with a carrying value of
HK$1,844,000 (2023: N/a) duly executed by the Group in
favour of the bank; and

(iii) A personal guarantee provided by an executive director,
Mr. Law Ming Yik.

At 31 March 2024, the Group had undrawn amount under
the banking facility of approximately HK$415,000 (2023:
HK$745,000).

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment
of covenants which are commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group was
to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would
become repayable on demand. In addition, the Group’s loan
agreements contain clauses which give the lender the right
at its sole discretion to demand immediate repayment at any
time irrespective of whether the Group has complied with the
covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.
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26. SRITRAE

2024 2023

20244 20234

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
HizE FHET FET
18 5,000 5,000
21 9,000 9,000
14,000 14,000

202438310 ZEBEE —XREH
RIS T AVIRTTRIE 14,000,000 7T
(20234F : 14,000,000:87T) °

IRTTRAE R T RIEFRE
() ARBRHEBIREER

iy ZEBMUZIETATTALENES
NEBAEEREER1,844,0008 7T
(2023%F . AEA) WEBEREA
TEIENEMHEERMGENEE
ko

(i) HATEFELERERHOEA
R

R2024FE3831H  ZEBRIETRHE T
B IR BN IBAY A415,00078 70 (20234
745,00087T) ©

PRAERITRENABTRASREBINE
MEZHPERNEE - HEAERERZ
HOFTREBBRMERBAREREE -IL
Sy REBBERHZESHERETES
AR B & B 1T R E 2 KILBE B
M ERAEBERERTHELETT
REREME -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

26. BANKING FACILITIES (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants and has made payments according to the schedule
of the loans and does not consider it probable that the banks
will exercise its discretion to demand repayment so long as
the Group continues to meet these requirements. Further
details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set
out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. As
at 31 March 2024, none of the covenants relating to drawn
down facilities had been breached (2023 Nil).

. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, during the year, the
Group had the following transactions with related parties:

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year were as follows:

Salaries and allowances and
benefits in kind

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme

Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in
Note 8(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

> 4

#r SRR R BYH @

FRE RN EI 2 H

26. IRITRLE (&)

AEBMETHEREBTZELENE
LB RERFERMR BRARE
REBEBFTEZEER RITAATEE
THEHNBEEERER -AEBRHETR
SEEME— PR BENREMBERE

Mi5E28°102024F3831H » EHE 2 ENE
BRMNREIREBR (2023F © #&) ©

27. BB

BRREGEEVHBRREMM S REZRS
SERSN RERN AEBERBAE AT
5325

FTEEBEASRIFM

RER EFREMEZEEMSBIFM
LI

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
2,599 3,699

88 89

2,687 3,788

ESHFWNE—DFBHNETMHR
MIEE8(a)
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28.

208

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of trade
and other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, bank overdrafts and bank borrowings. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise and maintain
finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial instruments such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its business activities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
management generally adopts conservative strategies on its
risk management and limits the Group's exposure to these risks
to a minimum level as follows:

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings with floating interest rates.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest risks and the Group’s interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR
and Prime arising from the Group’s bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings respectively.

At 31 March 2024, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of
2.5% (2023: 1%) in interest rates would increase/decrease the
Group's loss before tax by approximately HK$303,000 (2023:
HK$122,000).
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. B EGEIEEERKE &)

POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of
the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure
to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments
in existence at that date. The 2.5% (2023: 1%) increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period until the end
of the next annual reporting period.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, which is net of
loss allowances, represents the Group's exposure to credit risk
without taking into account the value of any collateral held or
other credit enhancements.

Trade receivables

Management of the Group has a credit limit policy in place and
exposures to credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. In
order to minimise credit risk, management of the Group has
established credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure appropriate actions are taken to recover
overdue debts.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer. The default
risk of the industry in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. Credit quality of a
customer is assessed based on background search assessment
and individual credit limit which is mainly based on the Group's
own trading records.

FMERERE #)

LS RE DT BRERFEEEHE PR
ERREENECERANRZBPFENIE
MESMTANFAERRBOMETE
2.5% (2023%F 1 1% ) WIG R KX EEEH
BHETESFERSHRPHANESE
B BEEE RIS TG

EEAR

REEGHHR R REBNEME EREE
(EHNBRERER ARETEENEER
% MR E BRT R R IR mElE S
EgENEE.

ESEKmE

FEEEEERAEEREBER  UHE
ERAZNEERR BEEERRRE
ERE AERBEECEHIEEEREE
EEERAKEMERER BEFXNES
TE R ClE AR EE

FEEAZEERRZEEETERRR
FZENFMEEE - ERARESENTEZ
BHRBITEEEERR BREEEM-
ERFNERERRES RBAEFENE
ANERBEEETHG ZFEEEENE
EEBSNRXFakke
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Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. B EGEEEERKE &)
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERKE &
Trade receivables (Continued) B EWE (B)
The credit period granted to customers ranged from 0 to BTERZEERANF0OE120K - %3
120 days. The ageing of gross trade receivables by invoice date ZEHHEINE S BWFIEEENIRE
is as follows: W
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Within 30 days 30K 1,778 12,929
31 to 60 days 31260K 1,209 3,913
61 to 90 days 61E90% 831 941
91 to 365 days 91E 365K 38,982 16,440
More than one year Bid— 13,909 22,288
56,709 56,511
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a RIERFR > BN E S EIGRIEEE+FH
concentration of credit risk as 34% (2023: 35%) and 94% 34% (20234F 1 35% ) 294% (20234
(2023: 90%) of the total trade receivables were made up by 90%) DRAIHEAEE 2 RAKEERGHR K
the Group's largest outstanding balance and the five largest AARKRBELHER WAEBRGFEEE
outstanding balances respectively. R B EFAR I -
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. B EGEIEEERKE &)

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide range of
customers and the trade receivables are categorised by
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers” abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL for trade receivables and recognises a loss
allowance, if any, based on lifetime ECL at each reporting
date and has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors to reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group's estimate on
future economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

FERRE (#)

EBSRYHE (#)

AEENEFEHEZNZERAN 85
RUGRIRR R ARSI D8 mMZES
BRRBERFRBEOIEMNE B
IERBE ] - A EBRBE L EZHAEE
ZERWHRBENAEREEBR RESKRS
BRI EFERREEREEDERES
A)  LERBEHEBEEEBELR
R EHERE WA ERFHAE
DU BR Wy B2 FEE S B4 HA R BO AR RO ~ 3R
L e 7 £ B PR 5t BY FE WORR IR TR AR 4 R
B R RASE R 2 IR E & o

MR E20245F 202343831 HILFE
HERMRNEARRILEES -
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28.

212

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. BARAMEIEEHERKE &)

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables from sales of diesel oil

At the end of the reporting period, the Group recognised
an impairment loss of approximately HK$17,050,000 (2023:
approximately HK$8,877,000) on the trade receivables from
sales of diesel oil. The movement in the loss allowance for

trade receivables from sales of diesel oil during the year is
summarised below:

At the beginning of the reporting period 7 ¥R 5 HA#])

Increase in allowance on the trade RESHHBEENE S
receivables from sales of diesel oil JFE Wi =R TE A 5 S 1
At the end of the reporting period REREIAR
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EERRE &

ESRBYHE (7)

HKE GBI &R E 5 B E

REAF > AEB KBS HHENE
57 ME WA IE HE 58 B B E5384917,050,00074
TT (20234F © #98,877,000/&7T) © AN EFE AR
BEhEENE S ENRIBNEIBEE

SEBMAWT

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

FAET FET

8,877 2,421

8,173 6,456

17,050 8,877
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Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables from sales of diesel oil (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024

Not past due

Within 30 days overdue
31-60 days overdue
61-90 days overdue
91-365 days overdue

More than one year overdue

122024%3H31H

FafA
BHA30K A
AHA31ZE60K
#HIG1ZE90K
BIHA91ZE 365K
EERBE—F

28. HHEBEEEBRREE @

FERRE (#)

EBSRYHE (#)

KE GBI E R E Z R E (B

Gross

Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
TAHARSHEE BRERE HIEEHE SEEREE

HK$000 HK$°000

FET FHET
0.6% 3,360 21 No #&
0.7% 680 55 No #&
0.8% 1,180 10 No #
1.0% 1,351 13 No #&
26.8% 42,921 11,517 No #&
100% 5,484 5,484 Yes B

54,976 17,050
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

214

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables from sales of diesel oil (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023 $1202353H31H
Not past due I3 AR

Within 30 days overdue #HA30K A
31-60 days overdue BHA31ZE60K
61-90 days overdue #HA61E90K
91-365 days overdue BHA91ZE365K

More than one year overdue % EAEBE—F

Trade receivables from sales of steam coal

The management assesses that the life-time ECL for the
trade receivables from sales of steam coal amounted to
HK$1,733,000 (2023: HK$1,733,000) which overdue over one
year are credit-impaired, thus loss allowance of HK$1,733,000

was recognised as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables
from sales of diesel oil and sales of steam coal as at

31 March 2024 and 2023.
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ESRBYHE (7)

KE GBI &R E 5 B E (B

Expected
loss rate
FTEHRRSIEX

0.8%
2.5%
5.0%
8.3%
24.6%
100%

Gross
carrying Loss
amount  allowance
FREARE BEEER
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
18,763 156
1,258 31
1,633 82
1,126 94
31,135 7,651
863 863
54,778 8,877

Credit-
impaired

EERE

-

No #
No £
No %
No £
No %

Yes B

HKE B IR E B E 5 IEW AR

BEENGAAEA —FREHIIEH
ENE 5 EWREIET,733,0008 7T (2023
F 1 1,733,00087m) N ERBEREES
BEAEERE WHt20245F %20234F3

B31 83 EEEE1,733,0008 7T
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. B EGEIEEERKE &)

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

The Group's other receivables include deposits paid and
other receivables in the consolidated statements of financial
position.

The Group considers that other receivables, excluded those
credit-impaired, have low credit risk based on the borrowers’
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects the
short maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
whether the financial asset is credit-impaired, the Group has
taken into account the historical actual credit loss experience
and the financial position of the counterparties, past collection
history, current creditworthiness, adjusted for forward-
looking factors that are specific to the counterparties and
general economic conditions of the industry in which the
counterparties operate, in estimating the probability of default
of these financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in
each case.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

The management assess that the life-time ECL for the other
receivable amounted of HK$128,000 (2023: HK$128,000)
which overdue over one year is credit-impaired, thus
loss allowance of HK$128,000 was recognised as at
31 March 2024 and 2023.

> 4

FERRE (#)

Bt EgwE

AEBNEMEBWRIBESEGESFHR
MEANE N T R HMERRIE

FEERD ERERATRARETS
NEEREEFTHNENERAEEZNAR
BIL > HMEWRIE (FBEZEFEER
BEE) NEERBRRIE - HMEKRIERN
BER12ERRAEEHIESE Wk
JE B O SAERYEIHA B o

REStRMEEFRREREE BV HBES
UREERBETEAZEMNURE/ME
ERTBEEERER  AEECEZEATE
ERGEEBRERENTZHFOMHR
M BEWGRESE S ERIERMRR W
LA BEBRTZEENEENEOHX
RENBERRZH T EAEMNE
HAENMRZHFEEMETEN—RE
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MEFEMAREEREREFEEERE K
120245 5202353831 A SR E R B
128,000/ 7T ©

BRBIEIRAPRAT 2023/2024 R 215



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

28.

216

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

At the beginning of the reporting period 72 %% & 8 47)

Increase in allowance BB IE N
At the end of the reporting period REREEAR

Bank balances and cash

The credit risk on bank balances and cash is limited because
majority of the counterparties are financial institutions with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies with good reputation. No loss allowance was
recognised for both years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or

significant assumptions made during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 28. B EGEIEEERKE &)
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk mENE & E S

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between AEBESRFBFNBRTHE TEEN
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of banking SRR E AN BT o

facilities.

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current and AEBNEKRETEHGEEIRITRER
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains HREBEE R R UBERERTENET
sufficient reserves of bank balances and cash as well as GHRAREREEURTENRITHREL
adequate banking facilities to meet its operation needs at any BERmEHEBEREE

time.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at EREBHNRMBEMNT AEBNBREHAR
the end of the reporting period based on contractual NEmaEIRBE MR T

undiscounted payments is summarised below:

On demand
or less than
1 year
BRERFENR—F
HK$'000
FET

As at 31 March 2024 122024538318
Trade payables B S RE(IE 1,686
Other payables HAFE R IE 4,065
Bank overdrafts IRITEX 4,585
Bank borrowings (Note) IRITIER 5L 7,539
17,875

As at 31 March 2023 F22023%3H31H
Trade payables B ZEMRIE 2,239
Other payables HAEIE 2,100
Bank overdrafts RITEX 4,255
Bank borrowings (Note) IRITEM (B 7,930
16,524
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

28.

29.

218

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note:

The amount repayable under certain bank loan agreements that include a
clause that gives the bank a right to call the loan at any time is classified
under the category of “on demand or less than 1 year”. However, the
management does not expect that the bank would exercise such right to
demand the repayment and thus these borrowings, which included the
related interest, would be repaid according to the below schedule as set
out in the loan agreements as follows:

28. HHEIEEEBREREE @

RBEZER &

Maz :

RIEETRITERRE (QER P RITERKE
B — 8RR EREEBIRT A ETER

RAEZSREZAVER > R ZEER (BEERF
B) R E T e B LU T BRI R T LUEE -

On demand
or less than 1to 2to Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
BERHIE
W—%F —EmE MERE AEMUE 4t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET TFHET FET
As at 31 March 2024 $£202453H31H
Bank borrowings RITEMN 716 1,031 3,093 4,053 8,893
As at 31 March 2023 12023%3H31H
Bank borrowings IRITREMR 1,208 1,208 3,625 2,975 9,016

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured
at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis across
the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13
“Fair Value Measurement” with the fair value measurement
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of inputs
are defined as follows:

e Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group
can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly;

e Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE
29. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 29. AT EEE (B

() UATFEFENEEMER

(@) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Valuation
Fair value at Fair value  techniques and
31 March hierarchy  key inputs
®3B31BMAFE AFESER HERTNREHARE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000  HKS$'000
FET FET
Assets measured UATEHENEE
at fair value
Financial assets at FV/PL FRBERRATE
ENEREE
- key management insurance  — T EEERERE The fair value of the key management
contracts (Note 14) ax (HsE14) 1,844 1,737 Level 3 insurance contracts is determined
$3%4 by reference to the surrender cash

value, which is primarily based on the
performance of the underlying investment
portfolio together with the guaranteed
minimum interests, reported by the bank
on a reqular basis.
IZEEERRAAONATESER
RERBERT RRESBETER
RETERRSNERREASHE
RURRENRERS

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements, and no transfers into or out of Level 3
fair value measurements, except for the inception of
the unlisted investments — key management insurance
contracts. The fair value gain that is recognised in profit
or loss for unlisted investments — key management
insurance contracts amounting to approximately
HK$107,000 (2023: fair value loss of HK$23,000) relate
to the contracts held at the end of the reporting period.
Such gains or losses are included in other income or
administrative and other operating expenses respectively.

> 4

B E2024F %20234F3831H 1L

EoBRIFEETRERE -—TE2EER
RGN BRI B2R A TFEST

EZENEERE  TESAREHS
SN T EFE-NBREHERTES
RSN AFEWZEL107,0008 T
(20234F | 2\ F(EE#823,000;87T) 51
AELEFRE-—TEEEBRESN
B985 R o tLEE W R TS 1B 0 B BT A
HAWA ST B sz o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

29. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 29. XFEHE @)
(a) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value (a) UATEHENEENER B
(Continued)
The fair value of the life insurance policy is determined AERBENATELEZSMILE
by reference to the surrender cash value reported by the EHBRENRFRREEERTE

financial institution on a regular basis.

(b) Assets and liabilities with fair value disclosure, but (b) WEATFEEBRULXTFEAENE
not measured at fair value ERER

All other financial assets and liabilities are carried at FMEEMMESmEEREGRHUERA
amounts not materially different from their fair values as 20245 520234383 1HNATFE

at 31 March 2024 and 2023. THREAEZENERETR

30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. EAKIE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKS$'000 HK$°000
FHET FAET

Capital expenditure contracted but not — FEUWEEER S E
provided for in the consolidated financial B 284918 8 R iMbr & B 75
statements in respect of acquisition of ~ RFEEEH X BRI
intangible assets - 1,775
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

31.

32.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safequard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide returns for equity owners. The Group manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments, including payment
of dividend to equity owners, call for additional capital from
equity owners or sale of assets to reduce debts. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBATSMNKRE
Current assets MENEE

Amount due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A B Rk IE
Bank balances R1T4EER

Current liabilities mEBE

Other payables Hh f& S TRIB

Net current assets MENEEFE

NET ASSETS BEZE

31. EXEE
rEBEAEENEEARGAEER
BREEKESNENRAEEES NAIE
Elif o REESEHEAREL EL B
2 GEARSES RGBS ARG
A ANEWENE AR EEZELUR D
BT o NEE2024F %2023F3831H LE
FECAERE BERRRF AL EEH o

32. KATHBRRR

2024 2023

20244 20234

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

Wizt FHT FHT
11 —* -
29,2857 38,5647

2 5

29,287 38,569

48 25

29,239 38,544

29,239 38,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZF 202443531 H IEFZF

32.

222

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Capital and reserves BARRKG#E
Share capital fi&

Reserves L
TOTAL EQUITY TS 4%

* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000.

A The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

This statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2024
and signed on its behalf by

LAW Ming Yik
BHE
Director

EF
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32. ZATHBRRE (@)

2024 2023
20245 2023
Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
M5t TFET TET
23 4,000 4,000
32(a) 25,239 34,544
29,239 38,544

Y EEEEELI, 00085 o

>
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RYBRARIN2024F6H27HEEER S
RO R I TIEE > WH T ESARE

LI Isaiah
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Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

Year ended 31 March 2024  #{ZFE 202443531 H IFFEE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 32. B HBERRER #&)
COMPANY (Continued)
32(a) Movement of reserves 32(a) EEEED

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
B AR B REtEsiE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAET
(Note 24(a))
(H15%24(a))
At 1 April 2022 122022548 1H 44,810 (9,960) 34,850
Loss and total comprehensive FEEEEKR 2 EE A
loss for the year 4azE - (306) (306)
At 31 March 2023 and 7R2023F3831H K
1 April 2023 2023%F481H 44,810 (10,266) 34,544
Loss and total comprehensive FEEEEKR 2 EEE
loss for the year 4azE - (9,305) (9,305)
At 31 March 2024 122024%F3H31H 44,810 (19,571) 25,239
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M E
RESULT E§
For the year ended 31 March
HEAMEALEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 20244
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FERT
Revenue Wz 351,113 240,112 230,915 67,722 69,032
Cost of sales THE A (338,464)  (237,976)  (224,026) (64,449)  (63,578)
Gross profit EH 12,649 2,136 6,889 3,273 5,454
Profit/(Loss) and total EEEH,/ (B18) K
comprehensive income/(loss) 2ENE (B8
for the year ke 1,699 (7,503) (3,134)  (12,066)  (10,662)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
As at 31 March
M3H318
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FERT
Non-current asset EREEE 9,378 9,687 9,756 9,975 9,310
Current assets TRENBE 58,467 55,185 61,834 48,257 40,925
Non-current liabilities EREAE 1,033 299 0 0 0
Current liabilities nEafE 4,151 9,415 19,566 18,274 20,939
Net current assets RENBEFE 54,316 45,770 42,268 29,983 19,986
Net assets BEEFE 62,661 55,158 52,024 39,958 29,296

The summary above does not from part of the audited consolidated ~ E#i i BB KB Z G S M B RFT N —IF
financial statements.

o

¥
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